## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-21-2015 12:00 AM

# The Role of Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein-2 (CPEB-2) in Breast Cancer

Asma Hasan, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Peeyush Lala, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Anatomy and Cell Biology © Asma Hasan 2015

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Medical Cell Biology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Hasan, Asma, "The Role of Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation Element Binding Protein-2 (CPEB-2) in Breast Cancer" (2015). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 3121. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/3121

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### THE ROLE OF CYTOPLASMIC POLYADENYLATION ELEMENT BINDING PROTEIN-2 (CPEB2) IN BREAST CANCER

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Asma <u>Hasan</u>

Graduate Program in Anatomy and Cell Biology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Asma Hasan 2015

#### Abstract

Over-expression of inflammation associated enzyme cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2 promotes breast cancer progression, metastasis and sustains cancer stem-like cells (SLCs) by activating prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> receptor EP4. Two COX-2 induced oncogenic miRNAs, miR-655 and miR-526b, target and down-regulate the cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein (*CPEB*)-2. Hypothesis: Down-regulation of *CPEB2* promotes an aggressive breast cancer phenotype through SLC induction and epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT). We found that high COX-2/miRNA expressing cell lines MDAMB231 and MCF7-COX-2 had significantly lower expression of *CPEB2* than MCF7 cells (low COX-2/miRNA). CPEB2 knockdown (KD) in CPEB2-high MCF7 cell line resulted in increased migratory and invasive capacity *in vitro*. CPEB2 KD increased spheroid forming ability (SLC surrogate), expression of SLC markers (Nanog, ALDH1, SOX-2), and mesenchymal marker (Twist1), and decreased epithelial marker (E-Cadherin). Furthermore, treatment with COX-2 inhibitor and EP4 antagonist increased CPEB2 expression. Collectively, CPEB2 demonstrates antioncogenic functions and CPEB2 inhibition promotes an aggressive breast cancer phenotype.

#### Keywords

Cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2, cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein (CPEB)-2, breast cancer, stem like cells (SLCs), epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), Prostaglandin E receptor 4 (EP4)

#### Acknowledgments

I would first like to express my thanks and appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Peeyush Lala, for giving me the opportunity to start my career in research in his laboratory as an undergraduate student, and for his continued support and mentorship throughout my Masters project. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members Dr. David Hess, Dr. Alison Allan and Dr. Trevor Shepherd for taking the time to review and provide feedback on my project these past two years.

I also want to acknowledge my lab members, Dr. Mousumi Majumder for her mentorship, encouragement and expertise, Mehdi Amiri for his guidance, Dr. Pinki Nandi and Fyyaz Siddiqui for their continued support. I would also like to thank Hila Jazayeri, Tianyun Wang, Jayneel Limbachia, Joshua Tordjamn and Viveack Yogeswaran. Thank you for all your help these past two years!

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for all their support and encouragement over the years.

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Fable of Contents	iv
List of Figures	. vii
List of Appendices	ix
Abbreviations	x
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Overview of Cancer	2
1.2 Stem Like Cells	4
1.3 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition	5
1.4 Cyclo-oxygenase Enzymes and Prostanoids	6
1.5 COX Inhibitors	. 10
1.6 COX-2 and Breast Cancer	. 11
1.7 PGE <sub>2</sub> and Breast Cancer	. 12
1.8 COX-2 induced miRNAs in breast cancer	. 13
1.9 The CPEB Family of Proteins	. 14
1.9.1 CPEB2	. 16
1.9.2 CPEB2 Targets	. 17
1.9.3 MiRNAs and CPEB2	. 18
1.10Rationale	. 19
1.11Central Hypothesis:	. 20
2 EXPERIMENTAL METHODS	. 21
2.1 Cell Culture	. 22
2.2 COX-2, CPEB2, miR-655 and miR-526b status in breast cancer cell lines	. 22

	2.3	MCF7 Cell Transfection	23
	2.4	Nucleofection	23
		2.4.1 <i>CPEB2</i> knockdown with siRNAs	24
	2.5	Quantification of CPEB2 knockdown with polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	( <b>RT-</b> 25
	2.6	Transwell Assay	26
		2.6.1 Migration Assay	26
		2.6.2 Invasion Assay (Matrigel)	27
	2.7	Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Assay and Enzyme-Linked Immunosor Assay (ELISA)	<b>bent</b> 28
	2.8	Tumoursphere Formation Assays	29
	2.9	Cell Staining for Immuno-fluorescence Microscopy	30
		2.9.1 Adherent cells	30
		2.9.2 Non-adherent cells (Tumourspheres)	31
	2.1	0COX-2 inhibitors, PGE <sub>2,</sub> EP4 Antagonists and Agonist Experiments	31
	2.1	1Statistical Analysis:	32
3	RE	SULTS	33
	3.1	Inverse relationship of CPEB2 with COX-2, miR-655 and miR-5 expression	<b>526b</b> 34
	3.2	Validation of CPEB2 knockdown (KD) with small interfering RNA (siR	<b>NA)</b> 37
	3.3	Knockdown of CPEB2 increased breast cancer cell migration and invasio	<b>n</b> 39
	3.4	Knockdown of CPEB2 has no effect on breast cancer cell proliferation	43
	3.5	Down-regulation of CPEB2 promoted an EMT phenotype	45
	3.6	Down-regulation of CPEB2 stimulated a SLC phenotype	51
	3.7	COX-2 and EP4 inhibition increased CPEB2 expression	65
4	DIS	SCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	69

	4.1 Summary of Findings and Conclusions	
	4.2 Contribution to the Current Field of Research	
	4.3 Role of CPEB2 in breast cancer cell migration, invasion, SLC EMT	<b>induction and</b>
	4.4 Role of COX-2 activity, EP4 Agonists and Antagonists in breas	st cancer 75
	4.5 Limitations of the Study	76
	4.6 Future Directions: Role of CPEB2 in Hypoxia	
	4.7 Conclusions	
5	REFERENCES	
6	APPENDICES	
C	URRICULUM VITAE	

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Cyclo-oxygenase enzymes, prostanoids and EP receptors
Figure 2. Breast cancer cell lines with high COX-2, and miR-655 and miR-526b
expression demonstrate low <i>CPEB2</i> expression
Figure 3. MCF7 cells transfected with CPEB2 siRNA have significantly lower
expression of CPEB2
<b>Figure 4.</b> Knockdown of CPEB2 increased migration in MCF7 cells 40
Figure 5. Knockdown of CPEB2 increased invasion in MCF7 cells42
<b>Figure 6.</b> MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have no change in cell proliferation
Figure 7. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have increased expression of mesenchymal marker
Twist146
Figure 8. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have increased expression of mesenchymal marker
Twist1
Figure 9. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have decreased expression of epithelial marker E-
Cadherin
Figure 10. Eight days after siRNA transfection, MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells retained lower
expression of <i>CPEB2</i>
Figure 11. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated increased spheroid formation54

Figure 12. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells grown in monolayer have increased expression of
ALDH1
Figure 13. MCF7-CPEB2 KD tumourspheres have increased expression of ALDH157
Figure 14. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells grown in monolayer demonstrated increased Nanog
expression
Figure 15. MCF7-CPEB2 KD tumourspheres demonstrated increased Nanog
expression
<b>Figure 16.</b> MCF7-CPEB2 KD tumourspheres have increased SOX-2 expression 63
Figure 17. Cells treated with EP4 antagonist and COX-2 specific inhibitors have
increased <i>CPEB2</i> expression
Figure 18. Cells treated with PGE2 and EP4 Agonist demonstrated no change in
CPEB2 expression
Figure 19. Possible mechanism of COX-2, CPEB2 and HIF-1α Pathway in Hypoxia 80

## List of Appendices

<b>Table 1:</b> Summary of breast cancer cell lines used in this project
<b>Table 2:</b> Probes used for real-time PCR
<b>Table 3:</b> Antibodies used for IF
Table 4: CPEB2 Isoforms based on BLAST and UniProt (Universal Protein Resource)
search
Figure A1: Abstract of COX-2/EP4/Notch-Wnt Axis in Breast Cancer Cell Induction
Paper

### Abbreviations

ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
BrdU	bromo-deoxyuridine
BSA	bovine serum albumin
cAMP	cyclic 3,5-adenosine monophosphate
CDH1	E-Cadherin
CDH2	N-Cadherin
CMV	cytomegalovirus
COX-2	cyclo-oxygenase 2
CPE	cytoplasmic polyadenylation elements
CPEB-2	cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein-2
CPSF	cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor
DCIS	ductal carcinoma in situ
eEF	eukaryotic elongation factor
EGF	epidermal growth factor

EIF	eukaryotic initiation factor
EMEM	eagle's minimum essential media
EMT	epithelial to mesenchymal transition
ER	estrogen receptor
Erβ1	estrogen receptor β1
ESR1	Estrogen receptor 1
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FGFb	fibroblast growth factor basic
GFP	green fluorescence protein
GLd2	germ-line development factor
HER2	human epidermal receptor 2
HIF-1α	hypoxia inducible factor-1α
IL-1β	interleukin-1β
LCIS	lobular carcinoma in situ
MET	mesenchymal to epithelial transition
miRNA	microRNA

MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
NSAIDs	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PABP	poly(A)-binding protein
PARN	poly(A) ribonuclease
Pen/strep	Penicillin/streptomycin
PG	prostaglandin
PGI <sub>2</sub>	prostacyclin
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PR	progesterone receptor
PR qRT-PCR	progesterone receptor quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
PR qRT-PCR RISC	progesterone receptor quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction RNA-induced silencing complex
PR qRT-PCR RISC RRM	progesterone receptor quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction RNA-induced silencing complex RNA recognition motifs
PR qRT-PCR RISC RRM siRNA	progesterone receptor quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction RNA-induced silencing complex RNA recognition motifs small-interfering RNA
PR qRT-PCR RISC RRM siRNA SLCs	progesterone receptor quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction RNA-induced silencing complex RNA recognition motifs small-interfering RNA stem like cells
PR qRT-PCR RISC RRM siRNA SLCs UniProt	progesterone receptor quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction RNA-induced silencing complex RNA recognition motifs small-interfering RNA stem like cells universal Protein Resource

VIM Vimentin

αCaMKII

 $\alpha\text{-}Ca^{2+}\!/calmodulin-dependent \ protein \ kinase \ II$ 

# **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Overview of Cancer**

Cancer is a disease that starts in the cells of various tissues in the body. Cancer cells acquire mutations that progressively transform them into a malignant state. Reaching this state is a multi-step process. Mutations leading to activation of growth promoting genes (oncogenes) or deactivation of growth suppressor (tumour suppressor) genes typically lead to cancer. Cancer cells develop mechanisms to avoid senescence, cell death signals and expression of tumour suppressors (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).. They often break out of normal tissue confines by increased migration and invasiveness. Cancer cells can induce the formation of blood vessels (angiogenesis, to derive their own nourishment) and sometimes new lymphatic vessels (lymphangiogenesis, which promotes lymphatic metastasis). These processes allow them to metastasize to other parts of the body (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). According to current statistics, one in nine Canadian women are expected to develop breast cancer over their lifetime and one in twenty-nine Canadian women will die from the disease (Canadian Cancer Society 2013). Breast cancer accounts for the second highest cancer-related mortality in females (Canadian Cancer Statistics).

Normal breast architecture consists of multiple milk-making glands that form a cluster of lobules, which are connected to the nipple through interlobular ducts. The lobules and ducts are surrounded by a layer of luminal and myoepithelial cells, and are separated from surrounding tissue by a basement membrane. Breast cancer can be broken down into categories based on histology. The two common types of non-metastatic breast cancer are ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) and lobular carcinoma *in situ* (LCIS), which refer to cancers located in the milk ducts or milk-making glands. The tumour becomes

3

invasive when the cells break down the basement membrane and from there spread to surrounding breast tissue, and ultimately metastasize to other parts of the body.

Breast cancer can also be classified based on the presence or absence of specific immunopathological markers. Treatment options and prognosis are often based on these markers. The markers are comprised of the estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal receptor 2 (HER2) (Bertos & Park, 2011). The usual course of treatment for ER+ tumours is anti-estrogen endocrine therapy, while HER2+ tumours are linked with poorer prognosis and are usually treated with the HER2 inhibitor Trastuzumab (Herceptin) (Vuong, Simpson, Green, Cummings, & Lakhani, 2014).

Breast cancer can be further classified according to mRNA transcription categories: luminal A, luminal B, basal, HER2 and claudin low. Luminal A subtypes have higher levels of Estrogen receptor 1 (*ESR1*) and ER regulated genes, lower ki-67 expression, a marker for cell proliferation, and better survival rates compared to the luminal B subtype. Claudin-low tumours are linked to poor outcomes, while the basal subtype is associated with ER-/PR-/HER2- or the triple negative cohort, the most severe form of breast cancer (Bertos & Park, 2011; Vuong et al., 2014). Despite these classifications, breast cancer tumours contain a heterogeneous population of cells, which makes them harder to treat. This heterogeneity might arise from a combination of mutations within cells and differentiation of mutated stem like cells (SLCs) during cancer (Reya, Morrison, Clarke, & Weissman, 2001). Traditional therapies are often unable to completely eradicate all cancer cells, leaving behind the SLC tumour cell subset, which leads to tumour reoccurrence. As such, there is a pressing need to identify novel drug targets and biomarkers for therapeutic monitoring.

#### 1.2 Stem Like Cells

SLCs are a rare population of cells within the tumour that possess certain stem cell like properties that drive the initiation and growth of tumours, and promote reoccurrence of cancer (Campbell & Polyak, 2014; Reya et al., 2001). Normal stem cells persist in the body through self-renewal properties, and are able to generate mature cells through differentiation (Reya et al., 2001). The cancer stem cell model suggests that SLCs could be derived from transformed stem cells, progenitor cells or differentiated cells (Reya et al., 2001). The genetic makeup of SLCs is continuously evolving, giving them treatmentresistant properties that are passed down to daughter generations (Valent et al., 2012). Quiescent SLCs can evade traditional therapies such as radiation and chemotherapy, which target rapidly dividing cells that make up the bulk of the tumour population. This causes a reduction in tumour size but is not a complete cure due to SLCs that exist in a quiescent or dormant state (Kai, Arima, Kamiya, & Saya, 2010; Tysnes, 2010; Wicha, Liu, & Dontu, 2006). Recent evidence suggests that SLCs adopt a functional state dependent on extrinsic micro-environmental factors in the "SLC-niche" (Visvader & Lindeman, 2012). For instance, in colorectal cancer, myofibroblasts secrete factors which are able to confer the stem cell phenotype in more differentiated tumour cells (Vermeulen et al., 2010).

With advancements in technology, we are now able to address SLC properties *in vitro*. One such assay cultures undifferentiated cells in spherical colonies referred to as tumourspheres. These are grown under low-attachment (anchorage independent) conditions in serum free medium supplemented with growth factors (Dontu et al., 2003).

SLCs are also characterized by the presence or absence of cell surface markers and enzyme activities. Tumourspheres in breast cancer were found to be enriched primarily for undifferentiated cells and cells expressing surface markers CD44+/CD24- (Dontu et al., 2003; Ponti et al., 2005). Cancer cells sorted for CD44+/CD24- phenotype displayed increased tumourigenicity after injection into immune-compromised mice (Al-Hajj, Wicha, Benito-Hernandez, Morrison, & Clarke, 2003). Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity has also been associated with SLCs. ALDH is a cytoplasmic detoxification enzyme and is highly expressed in multiple progenitor cell lineages (Vasiliou & Nebert, 2005). CD44+/CD24-/ALDH<sup>high</sup> and CD44+/CD133+/ALDH<sup>high</sup> cells demonstrated increased tumoursphere forming ability and lung metastasis following tail vein injection in immune-compromised mice (Croker et al., 2009). Interestingly, another study also found that high ALDH1 expression in DCIC breast biopsies is associated with increased risk of breast cancer development (Kunju et al., 2011). In addition, expression of pluripotency genes such as SOX-2, Nanog, OCT4 has also been associated with SLCs in various cancers including the breast (Chiou et al., 2010; Ezeh, Turek, Reijo, & Clark, 2005; Leis et al., 2012). Thus, SLCs may be prospectively identified in breast cancer by the CD44+/CD24-/CD133+/ALDH<sup>high</sup> phenotype (Al-Hajj et al., 2003; Croker et al., 2009). Targeting these SLCs in breast cancer may reduce reoccurrence of cancer and improve patient survival.

#### **1.3 Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition**

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is an important component of cancer metastasis. Cancer metastasis is a complex process which involves the generation of motile tumour cells, breakdown and migration through the basement membrane and migration into blood or lymphatic vessels, extravasation to a secondary site and establishment of secondary tumours (Tsuji, Ibaragi, & Hu, 2009). At the sub-cellular level, loss of tight junctions, adherens junctions and desmosomes, is observed as well as cytoskeletal changes and differential expression of adhesion molecules and transcription factors. During EMT, decreased expression of *CDH1* (E-Cadherin) is associated with loss of cell-cell contacts and epithelial cell polarity (Adams & Nelson, 1998; Vincent-Salomon & Thiery, 2003). There is also a concurrent increase in expression of E-Cadherin (Peinado, Olmeda, & Cano, 2007). Changes in cells from highly organized epithelial like cells to a more motile mesenchymal cell are characteristics of cancer cell plasticity (Thiery, 2002). Identifying cells prone to EMT will help us target cells that are more likely to metastasize.

#### 1.4 Cyclo-oxygenase Enzymes and Prostanoids

Over the past decade, our laboratory has pioneered the investigation into the role of cyclo-oxygenase (COX) system in cancer promotion (Dunn, Majumder, & Lala, 2014; Landman, Majumder, Liu, & Lala, 2014; Majumder, Xin, Liu, Girish, & Lala, 2014; Rozic, Chakraborty, & Lala, 2001; Timoshenko, Lala, & Chakraborty, 2004; Xin et al., 2012). Elevated COX-2 expression was observed in approximately 85% of human colorectal cancers and in 37.4% of breast cancer tumours compared to normal tissue (Eberhart et al., 1994; Ristimaki et al., 2002). Furthermore, high expression of COX-2 has been demonstrated in hepatocellular carcinoma and lung cancer (Soslow et al., 2000;

Tang, 2005). Aberrant cyclo-oxygenase (COX)-2 up-regulation during chronic inflammation is believed to play a major role in carcinogenesis (FitzGerald, 2003).

COX enzymes catalyze the rate limiting step in the formation of prostanoids. There are three isoforms of the enzyme, COX-1 and COX-2, and the lesser studied COX-3, which is a variant of *COX-1* (Chandrasekharan et al., 2002). COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most tissues including the lungs, small and large intestine, liver, and kidney. It generates steady and low levels of prostanoids needed for physiological functions such as vaso-relaxation, platelet aggregation and protection of gastro-intestinal lining epithelia. In contrast, COX-2 expression is induced locally in multiple tissues by inflammatory cytokines and mitogens, producing high prostanoid levels required to combat pathogens through mobilization of leukocytes into interstitial space (FitzGerald, 2003).

Production of prostanoids, in particular prostaglandin (PG)E<sub>2</sub>, depends mainly on COX-1 and COX-2 expression. When stimulated, arachidonate is cleaved from the lipid bilayer by phospholipase-A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>). Liberated arachidonic acid is then converted to prostaglandin (PG)H<sub>2</sub> in a two step reaction via the COX enzymes. Through different cell-specific synthases, PGH<sub>2</sub> is converted to signaling molecules, which include Prostacyclin (PGI<sub>2</sub>), Thromboxane A<sub>2</sub>, Prostaglandin D<sub>2</sub>, Prostaglandin F<sub>2α</sub> and Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>. These prostanoids subsequently mediate pleiotropic effects through multiple receptors. Notably, PGE<sub>2</sub> was determined to be the most abundant prostaglandin released from breast cancer cells (Timoshenko, Xu, Chakrabarti, Lala, & Chakraborty, 2003). PGE<sub>2</sub> mediates its effects through four different G-protein-coupled receptors, EP1EP1 activation is coupled with  $G_q$  and leads to increased intracellular calcium mobilization. In contrast, PGE<sub>2</sub> signaling is mediated primarily by EP2 and EP4 receptors coupled with  $G_s$ , resulting in increased cyclic 3,5-adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), whereas EP3 stimulation is coupled with G protein  $G_i$  and inhibits adenylate cyclase activity resulting in decreased (cAMP) levels (Bos, Richel, Ritsema, Peppelenbosch, & Versteeg, 2004). More recently, EP4 was also demonstrated to mediate its effects through the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway which phosphorylates extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) (Fujino & Regan, 2006; Fujino, Xu, & Regan, 2003). This pathway is unique to EP4 and not utilized by EP2. Prostanoids mediate a complex array of signaling pathways essential to homeostatic function, on the other hand uncontrolled signaling has been implicated in cancer.



#### Figure 1. Cyclo-oxygenase enzymes, prostanoids and EP receptors

COX-1 and COX-2 convert arachidonic acid into prostaglandin precursors PGG2 and PGH2 through a two step rate limiting reaction. PGH2 is converted to various prostanoids through different prostanoid synthases. Most notably, COX enzymes mediate the formation of PGE<sub>2</sub>, which has been associated with breast cancer aggressiveness. PGE<sub>2</sub> acts on four different EP receptors. Our lab is investigating COX-2 mediated breast cancer progression, focusing on the pathway highlighted in red.

#### **1.5 COX Inhibitors**

Non-selective COX-1/COX-2 inhibitors are non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) with Aspirin-like properties, and primarily utilized for analgesic, antiinflammatory and fever reducing activities (Flower, 2003). In the 1970s, Aspirin and Aspirin-like-drugs were shown to reduce prostaglandin levels in humans (Smith & Willis, 1971). Interestingly, these drugs also showed promise as anti-cancer agents. For instance, patients treated with low-dose Aspirin had a decrease in fatal colon cancer (Thun, Namboodiri, & Heath, 1991). However, chronic use of NSAIDs is associated with adverse effects such as gastric intolerance and delay of blood clotting. Selective COX-2 inhibitors, such as Celecoxib (Celebrex, Pfizer), have shown promising therapeutic effects and chemoprotective effects in a variety of cancers (Harris, 2009). The use of COX-2 inhibitors has exhibited increased apoptosis in head and neck carcinoma, reduced tumour formation in colon cancer and breast cancer (Harris, Alshafie, Abou-Issa, & Seibert, 2000; Kim et al., 2010; Sheng et al., 1997). However, prolonged use of COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors has been associated with adverse cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction, cardiac arrest, stroke and pulmonary embolisms in a small subset of patients (Fitzgerald, 2004; Graham, 2006; Nussmeier et al., 2005). The increased incidence of cardiovascular events is believed to result from the inhibition of cardioprotective prostanoids such as PGI<sub>2</sub>; which blocks platelet aggregation and promotes vaso-dilation (Fitzgerald, 2004). COX-2 inhibitors disrupt the balance of PGI<sub>2</sub> and thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> present in the body (Fitzgerald, 2004). Thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> plays a role in vasoconstriction and platelet aggregation, and is mainly produced by COX-1 thus generally unaffected by selective COX-2 inhibitors. Because PGE<sub>2</sub> signals through EP4

via a unique pathway not shared by other EPs, our lab is investigating the receptor as more selective down-stream target of COX-2 activity that avoids cardiovascular side-effects observed with prolonged use of COX-2 inhibitors.

#### 1.6 COX-2 and Breast Cancer

COX-2 has an important role in breast cancer progression. In tumours, COX-2 expression has been correlated with negative hormone receptor (ER and PR) status and HER2 amplification (Ristimaki et al., 2002) (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene). Furthermore, studies in our laboratory have demonstrated that ectopically expressed COX-2 in breast cancer cell lines increase cell migration, invasion and proliferation (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene). Increased proliferation is also a characteristic of COX-2 high tumours (Ristimaki et al., 2002). In breast cancer tissue, high COX-2 has been associated with matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 activation, which degrade components in the extracellular matrix and the basement membrane (Sivula et al., 2005). Furthermore, high COX-2 expression is associated with high VEGF-C and LYVE-1, markers for endothelial lymphatic cells (Timoshenko, Chakraborty, Wagner, & Lala, 2006), and COX-2 over-expression demonstrated up-regulated production of angiogenic (VEGF-A) and lymphangiogenic (VEGF-C and -D) factors (Timoshenko et al., 2006) (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene). Furthermore, COX-2 transfection markedly increased the size and frequency of clonogenic spheroid formation (a surrogate of SLC function in vitro) (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene). Tumourspheres formed from COX-2 over-expressing cells had increased co-expression of the breast cancer stem cell markers CD44 and ALDH, as well as embryonic stem cell pluripotency markers SOX-2

and OCT-3/4 (Majumder, Xin, Liu, Girish, et al., 2014) (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene). EMT phenotype was observed in COX-2 over-expressing breast cancer cells, shown by decreased expression of epithelial marker *CDH1* and increased expression of mesenchymal markers *VIM* (Vimentin), *Twist1* and *CDH2* (N-Cadherin) (Majumder, Landman, Liu, Hess, & Lala, 2015) (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene). Finally, COX-2 over-expressing cells demonstrated a marked increase in lung colony forming ability and orthotopic tumourigenicity after serial transplantation into immunodeficient murine recipients (Majumder et al. 2014). Collectively, these observations are consistent with increased metastasis and reduced survival in breast cancer patients with high COX-2 expression within tumours (Ristimaki et al., 2002).

#### **1.7 PGE<sub>2</sub> and Breast Cancer**

As mentioned previously, PGE<sub>2</sub> is the main prostainoid resulting from increased COX-2 activity in breast cancer cells (Timoshenko et al., 2003). Our lab has shown that PGE<sub>2</sub> promotes tumour progression and metastasis by multiple mechanisms; (1) including the inactivation of cancer-fighting immune cells (Lala, Santer, Libenson, & Parhar, 1985; Parhar & Lala, 1985), (2) stimulation of cancer cell migration (Rozic et al., 2001; Timoshenko et al., 2003) and invasion (Timoshenko et al., 2004), (3) cancer-associated angiogenesis (Rozic et al., 2001), and (4) lymphangiogenesis by up-regulation of VEGF-C or VEGF-D (Timoshenko et al., 2006; Xin et al., 2012). Therefore, COX-2 mediated production of PGE<sub>2</sub> promotes cancer associated functions.

#### 1.8 COX-2 induced miRNAs in breast cancer

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are small regulatory RNA molecules (19-24 nucleotides) that are transcribed from DNA but not translated into protein. miRNAs act to down-regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level by either degrading mRNA of their target gene or by blocking translation of the target gene into protein. They recognize their target gene through sequence complementarity, usually located on the target gene's 3'untranslated region (UTR) (Sassen, Miska, & Caldas, 2008). MiRNA biogenesis starts with RNA polymerase II or III driven generation of pri-miRNA strands. Drosha RNase III endonuclease performs nuclear cleavage of the the pri-miRNA strand, generating a stem loop structure intermediate or the miRNA precursor (pre-miRNA). The pre-miRNA is then transported to the cytoplasm by Ran-GTP and Exportin-5. Next, Dicer cleaves the pre-miRNA, removing the loop and terminal base pairs. This produces the mature miRNA and a similar sized complementary fragment referred to as the miRNA\*. The miRNA:miRNA\* duplex is short lived and the miRNA\* is subsequently degraded. The mature miRNA is incorporated into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), which then suppresses target gene expression (Bartel, 2004). MiRNAs have been associated with oncogenic and anti-oncogenic (tumour-suppressor-like) functions. Interestingly, miRNAs can be found in body fluids within micro-vesicles (Kosaka, Iguchi, & Ochiya, 2010). Therefore, expression of certain miRNAs can be utilized as potential cancer biomarkers (Calin & Croce, 2006).

Affymetrix microRNA micro-array comparison of the MCF7-COX-2 cells and MCF7-Mock cells, identified two miRNAs, miR-526b and miR-655, that are up-regulated in the COX-2 over-expressing cell lines. COX-2 low breast cancer cells treated with PGE<sub>2</sub> or EP4 agonists had higher expression of miR-526b and miR-655 (Majumder et al., 2015) Furthermore, COX-2 over-expressing tumourspheres demonstrated higher expression of these miRNAs, suggesting that these miRNAs are COX-2 and EP4 induced (Dunn et al., 2014; Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). MiR-526b and miR-655 over-expressing cells also showed increased migration, invasion, proliferation and tumoursphere formation (Dunn et al., 2014; Majumder et al., 2015). When these miRNA over-expressing cells were treated with EP4 antagonists, a reduction in spheroid formation was observed. In vivo studies of these miRNA over-expressing breast cancer cells revealed an increase in proliferative lung colonies in mice compared to MCF7-Mock cells (Majumder et al., 2015; Majumder, Xin, Liu, Bell, et al., 2014). In situ studies demonstrate that both miR-526b and miR-655 are higher in breast cancer tissue and are negatively correlated with patient survival (Majumder et al., 2015; Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). Therefore, miR-526b and miR-655 are considered oncogenic with SLC-inducing properties which are mediated through COX-2 and EP4. Interestingly, cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein (CPEB)-2 is the common gene target for both miRNAs. By extension, we propose that CPEB2 may demonstrate anti-oncogenic properties, and down-regulation of CPEB-2 by miR-526b and miR-655 promotes breast cancer aggressiveness.

#### **1.9 The CPEB Family of Proteins**

Translation of eukaryotic mRNAs can be regulated through the length of their poly(A) tails (Macdonald, 2001). CPEB1, the founding member of the CPEB family, was first described to play a role in oocyte maturation (Hake & Richter, 1994). CPEB1 regulates

translation by associating with specific sequences in the 3' UTR of their target mRNA called cytoplasmic polyadenylation elements (CPEs, sequence: UUUUUAU) (D'Ambrogio, Nagaoka, & Richter, 2013; Hake, Mendez, & Richter, 1998). All CPEBs have some common structural elements including an N-terminal regulatory domain and a C-terminal RNA-binding domain. The RNA-binding domain contains two RNA recognition motifs (RRMs) and a cysteine-histidine zinc finger region, which when deleted impair the ability of CPEBs to bind to target mRNAs (Hake et al., 1998). Based on amino acid homologies in the coding regions and RNA binding regions (RRMs and zing finger regions), human CPEBs can be divided into two subfamilies: CPEB1 and CPEB2-4 (Huang, Kan, Lin, & Richter, 2006; Kurihara et al., 2003). The RNA binding domains of CPEB2, CPEB3 and CPEB4 are very similar, suggesting that they might share similar recognition sequences (Kurihara et al., 2003).

Unlike CPEB1, CPEB3 and CPEB4 do not interact with CPEs and bind other RNA binding sequences (Huang et al., 2006). Furthermore, unlike CPEB1, CPEB3 does not bind the cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor (CPSF) (Huang et al., 2006). This suggests that CPEB3 and CPEB4 do not regulate translation through polyadenylation and do so through an independent mechanism. Although little is known on CPEB2 function, it is postulated that since CPEB2 is more similar to CPEB3-4 than CPEB1, then CPEB2 RNA binding sequences should be similar to CPEB3-4 and not CPEB1. However, a more recent paper highlights that both CPEB1 and CPEB2 bind to the CPE in HIF-1 $\alpha$  RNA, to regulate its protein expression (Hägele, Kühn, Böning, & Katschinski, 2009). This suggests that CPEB2 regulates translation through polyadenylation and possibly another mechanism similar to CPEB3-4.

CPEB1 has been associated with cellular senescence, loss of polarity and suppression of malignancy (D'Ambrogio et al., 2013). CPEB1 knock-out mouse embryonic fibroblast cells avoid senescence and continue to divide (Groisman et al., 2006). When CPEB1 is re-introduced into CPEB1 low cells, cell stop dividing and express senescence associated marker  $\beta$ -galactosidase (Burns & Richter, 2008; Groisman et al., 2006). CPEB1 has also been shown to play a role in synaptic plasticity by regulating the translation  $\alpha$ -Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II ( $\alpha$ CaMKII) mRNA (Huang, Jung, Sarkissian, & Richter, 2002; Wu et al., 1998). Meta-analysis of global gene expression in cancers compared to normal tissues has shown that CPEB1 mRNA is lower in brain and reproductive system cancer, and CPEB3 mRNA is lower in digestive tract cancer, brain tumours and, head and neck tumour (D'Ambrogio et al., 2013). On the other hand, CPEB4 mRNA is higher in pancreatic glioblastomas (D'Ambrogio et al., 2013).

#### 1.9.1 CPEB2

In mouse organs, *CPEB2* RNA has been detected in large quantities in the testis, and is also found at lower levels in the brain, liver, thymus, salivary glands, spleen, kidney, intestines and ovaries (Chen & Huang, 2012; Kurihara et al., 2003). The amount of CPEB2 in breast tissue has not been investigated. HeLa cells transfected with a CPEB2-GFP construct demonstrated that the protein is localized in the cytoplasm in cells (Huang et al., 2002; Kurihara et al., 2003). The role of CPEB2 in breast cancer has not been studied, but it may represent an important therapeutic target for cancer therapy due to its known targets.

#### 1.9.2 CPEB2 Targets

Genes involved in antioxidant defence systems, such as hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1 $\alpha$ , are up-regulated in breast cancer stem cells (Kai et al., 2010). HIF-1 $\alpha$  over-expression in cancer has been associated with increased patient mortality in cancers of the brain, breast, cervix, oropharynx, ovary, and uterus (Semenza, 2003). HIF-1 $\alpha$  has been shown to up-regulate genes involved in apoptosis resistance, angiogenesis and metastasis (Semenza, 2003). Under normoxic conditions, CPEB2 interacts with eukaryotic elongation factor (eEF)-2 and binds to the 3'UTR of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , reducing HIF-1 $\alpha$  peptide elongation (Chen & Huang, 2012). Under arsenite induced stress, CPEB2 is released from HIF-1 $\alpha$  RNA and no longer interacts with eEF2. This allows eEF2 to resume maximum GTPase activity and increases the translation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  (Chen & Huang, 2012; Hägele et al., 2009), leading to up-regulation of hypoxia induced factors such as VEGF.

Nairismägi et al. (2012) have shown that CPEB2 also has a role in the posttranscriptional regulation of Twist1, a gene involved in the EMT transition. Using immuno-precipitation, the authors determined that CPEB2 associates with Twist1 mRNA and over-expressing CPEB2 leads to decreased Twist1 protein levels (Nairismägi et al., 2012). Recently,  $\beta$ -catenin, CaMKII $\alpha$ , and ephrin receptor A4 (EphA4) have been identified as CPEB2 targets in mouse brain (Turimella et al., 2015).  $\beta$ -catenin and CaMKII $\alpha$  are also established CPEB1 targets (Hägele et al., 2009; Wu et al., 1998). This shows that there is an overlap of target molecules between CPEB1 and CPEB2.

#### 1.9.3 MiRNAs and CPEB2

CPEB2, along with CPEB3-4, have previously been shown to be negatively regulated by miR-92 and miR-26. Both these miRNAs bind to the predicted recognition motif in the 3' UTR of CPEB2-4 and reduce transcript levels (Morgan, Iaconcig, & Muro, 2010). MiR-92 is up-regulated in certain human cancers, is associated with increased proliferation and reduced apoptosis, and is inversely correlated with estrogen receptor  $\beta$ 1 (Er $\beta$ 1) in breast cancer cell lines (Al-Nakhle et al., 2010; Manni et al., 2009; Shigoka et al., 2010; Tsuchida et al., 2011; Ventura et al., 2008). On the other hand, miR-26 has both oncogenic and tumour suppressive roles, where it has high expression in high grade glioma cells and reduced expression in breast cancer tumour tissues (Huse et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011).

Our laboratory has previously shown that COX-2 promotes aggressive properties and induces a SLC phenotype in breast cancer cells; and that these functions are at least in part mediated by PGE<sub>2</sub>, EP4 and COX-2-induced miR-526b and miR-655. Stable transfection of COX-2 into human breast cancer cell lines MCF7 (COX-2 low, ER+, HER2–) and SKBR3 (COX-2 low, ER–, HER2+), induced all the phenotypic properties of aggressive breast cancer in vitro and in vivo (Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). Therefore, a combined Affymetrix gene expression and microRNA analysis of the COX-2 transfected cells compared to the mock transfected cells was performed. Out of the 848 microRNAs tested, only two were up-regulated by COX-2 transfection, miR-526b and miR-655. At the same time, out of 28,870 genes tested only 26 were down-regulated with COX-2 transfection. Interestingly, out of the 26 down-regulated genes, either miR-655 or miR-526b targeted 13 genes identified through the micro-array. The only common gene target of both miR-655 and miR-526b was CPEB2. Since both oncogenic miR-655 and miR-526b have target sites of the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of CPEB2, and miRNAs down-regulate specific gene expression, we postulate that CPEB2 might have an antioncogenic role in breast cancer.

Since microRNAs are stable in patient's serum, these oncogenic miRNAs can serve as potential markers for screening of SLCs and therapeutic responses in the clinic. Furthermore, gene expression profiles can be important prognostic markers in cancer. Thus, establishing a tumour-suppressor-like role for the CPEB2 will allow us to identify CPEB2 as a novel therapeutic target for tumour suppression in breast cancer.

#### 1.11 Central Hypothesis:

Down-regulation of CPEB2 promotes an aggressive breast cancer phenotype through SLC induction and EMT.

#### **Specific Aims**

- To investigate if there is an inverse relationship between expression levels of a) *CPEB2* and *COX-2* and b) *CPEB2* and miR-655 or miR-526b in human breast cancer cell lines.
- 2) To elucidate the effects of CPEB2 knock-down on MCF7 cell migration, invasion, proliferation, SLC function, and EMT *in vitro*
- 3) To investigate the effects of COX-2 inhibitor, and PGE<sub>2</sub> (EP1-4 ligand), EP4 agonist and antagonist treatments on CPEB2 levels.

# 2 EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

#### 2.1 Cell Culture

The breast cancer cell lines used in this project are summarized in Table 1. All cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). MCF7 cells were extensively used in this thesis. MCF7 cells originated from the mammary gland of a patient with adenocarcinoma (ATCC, 2015). These cells are ER and PR positive, and HER2 negative (Kao et al., 2009). Furthermore, MCF7 cells are low in *COX-2* (Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014) and high in *CPEB2*, making them ideal candidates for CPEB2 knockdown in this study.

All breast cancer cell lines were maintained as monolayers in T-75 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks (Falcon) in a humidified incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. MCF7 cells were grown in Eagle's Minimum Essential Media (EMEM, ATCC) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Gibco), 100  $\mu$ g/mL of penicillin/streptomycin (pen/strep, Gibco) and 10  $\mu$ g/mL of insulin (Sigma). SKBR3 cells were grown in McCoy's 5A Modified Media (Gibco), and MDAMB231, HS578T and T47D cells were grown in RPMI-1640 Media (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS and 100  $\mu$ g/mL pen/strep. Cells were washed with DPBS (Gibco) and media was changed every 48 hours. Cells were detached with 0.25% Trypsin (Gibco) and re-plated, as required.

#### 2.2 COX-2, CPEB2, miR-655 and miR-526b status in breast cancer cell lines

To determine the status of *COX-2* and *CPEB2* expression, miR-655 and miR-526b in different breast cancer cell lines, real-time PCR was performed using the TaqMan gene expression assay as described in '2.5'.
#### 2.3 MCF7 Cell Transfection

Over-expression of COX-2 was achieved using a pCMV-IRES2-EGFP-COX-2 vector which contained a cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter. The plasmid also contains an enhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP) and neomycin resistance genes which can be used to sort transfected cells.

Dr. Mousumi Majumder previously transfected MCF7 cells with 2  $\mu$ g of either pCMV-IRES-EGFP (control) plasmid or pCMV-IRES2-EGFP-COX-2 over-expression plasmid (Dr. Michael Archer, University of Toronto). The resulting cell line was named MCF7-COX-2. COX-2 over-expression was validated with real-time PCR as described in '2.5'. Media was supplemented with 500  $\mu$ g/mL of Geneticin® (Gibco) to maintain selective pressure.

#### 2.4 Nucleofection

Electroporation is a transfection method that involves the application of short electronic pulses to cells, which increase their permeability to macromolecules (Iversen, Birkenes, Torsdalen, & Djurovic, 2005). To increase transfection efficiency, nucleofection was employed. Nucleofection involves cell-specific delivery systems (nucleofector solution) and electronic pulses to optimize delivery of DNA, small-interfering RNA (siRNA) oligonucleotides to the nucleus of cells (Han et al., 2008). Nucleofection was performed using the Amaxa Biosystems Nucleofector® 2 system, the Cell Line Nucleofector® Kit V (Lonza) and associated protocol. The nucleofection protocol was validated by

transfecting MCF7 cells with the supplied pmaxGFP Vector® (Lonza). Expression of GFP was confirmed by fluorescence microscopy in MCF7 cells.

#### 2.4.1 CPEB2 knockdown with siRNAs

In vitro CPEB2 knockdown was achieved using siRNAs. Similar to miRNAs, siRNAs bind and degrade target genes with complementary mRNA sequences through RISC (Carthew & Sontheimer, 2009). For this project, siRNAs were transfected into MCF7 cells to down-regulate CPEB2 expression. Parental MCF7 (COX-2 low) human breast cancer cell line expressed high levels of CPEB2. MCF7 cells were grown until 80% confluent in T-75 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks (Falcon). Cells were trypsinized and pelleted. Two million cells were transferred into certified cuvettes along with supplemented nucleofector® solution (Lonza) and 1 µM of either CPEB2 siRNA (OriGene) or Universal Scrambled Control siRNA ([Control siRNA], OriGene). The program used for transfection was P-020. After nucleofection, cells were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in appropriate antibiotic free media. After 24 hours media was changed and experiments were conducted after 48 hours. The resulting cell lines were named MCF7-Scrambled and MCF7-CPEB2 KD. CPEB2 KD was validated using RT-PCR. To look at the functional role of CPEB2, the following assays were tested: migration (Transwell assay), invasion (Matrigel Transwell Assay), proliferation (BrdU uptake), EMT phenotype (real-time PCR/IF) and in vitro SLC content (clonogenic tumoursphere formation on ultra-low attachment plates/IF).

Real-time polymerase chain reaction (real-time PCR) was used to quantify the amount of specific mRNA transcripts present in a sample using fluorescent technology. We used a multi-step protocol that involves: (1) RNA purification, (2) conversion of RNA into cDNA, and (3) detection of PCR product (Fraga, Meulia, & Fenster, 2008). In general, the less time it takes for an amplified target sequence to pass the detection threshold, the greater the amount of target sequence there is in the starting material (Fraga et al., 2008).

Cells were grown until 80-90% confluent, after which they were trypsinized and pelleted. Total RNA and miRNA was extracted using RNeasy Minikit and RNeasy MiniElute Cleanup Kit (Qiagen) by following manufacture's protocol (Qiagen, 2010a, 2010b). Total RNA and miRNA concentration was quantified using the Epoch Microplate Spectrophotometer (BioTek®).

RNA and miRNA was converted into cDNA using a RNA-dependent DNA polymerase (Reverse Transcriptase). cDNA was synthesized using reagents from the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit and TaqMan MicroRNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Life Technologies). In the case of RNA synthesis, random primers were used, while for miRNA synthesis 3  $\mu$ L of specific primers for miR-526b, miR-655, RNU44 and RNU48 (Life Technologies) were used. For each sample, 1  $\mu$ g of RNA per 20  $\mu$ L reaction or 0.5  $\mu$ g of miRNA per 28  $\mu$ L reaction were used to synthesize cDNA using the C1000<sup>TM</sup> Thermal Cycler (BioRad). The following parameters were used to perform reverse transcription from RNA: hold for 10 min at 25°C, 120 min at 37°C, 5 min at 85°C, then

hold at 4°C; and from miRNA: hold for 30 min at 16°C, 30 min at 42°C, 5 min at 85°C, then hold at 4°C.

For accurate detection of PCR product, PCR mixture was made using reagents from the TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (RNA) and TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix, no AmpErase UNG kit (miRNA, Life Technologies). Each qPCR reaction tube was prepared to a volume of 20  $\mu$ L with 1  $\mu$ L of appropriate TaqMan Probe, and 2  $\mu$ L of cDNA. The probes that were used in this experiment are listed in Table 2. House-keeping genes  $\beta$ -actin and RPL5 (for RNA), and RNU44 and RNU48 (for miRNA) were used as controls. The real-time PCR was performed on the Rotor-Gene 3000 (Corbett Research), using the profile: hold for 2 min at 50°C, 10 min at 95°C followed by 45x cycling with denaturing 15 sec at 95°C, and anneal/extension cycles for 1 min at 58°C.

Data was analysed using the relative quantification method  $(2^{-\Delta\Delta CT})$ , where change in expression of a target gene from a treated or transfected group was compared to a control group (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

#### 2.6 Transwell Assay

#### 2.6.1 Migration Assay

MCF7-Parental cells, MCF7-Scrambled, and MCF7-CPEB2 KD were grown until 80% confluent. Cells were serum starved in basal EMEM media overnight. A 24-well cell culture plate fitted with 8  $\mu$ m microporous polycarbonate cell culture inserts (Fisher Scientific) was used to measure migration. The upper chamber contained 300  $\mu$ L of cell suspension (2 x 10<sup>5</sup> serum starved cells/mL of basal EMEM), while the bottom contained

700  $\mu$ L of EMEM media with no FBS or 5% FBS. Both sides of the insert membranes were cell culture pre-treated to promote membrane cell-adherence and limit cell-growth on the walls of the insert. Cells that adhered to the bottom surface of the membrane inserts were counted as migratory cells.

Previous work in the laboratory has shown that peak migration occurs at 24 hours (Rozic et al., 2001). Therefore, plates were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours after which membrane inserts were removed and the top of the membrane inserts were wiped carefully with a cotton swab to remove non-migratory cells. The membranes were fixed with cold 100% methanol and stained with Eosin and Thiasine (VWR), which stains the cytoplasm pink and nucleus purple. The membrane was then carefully removed from the inserts and mounted onto microscope slides. Cells from the whole insert were counted under a light microscope (Leica-DFC295).

#### 2.6.2 Invasion Assay (Matrigel)

Another characteristic of the tumour cell metastatic phenotype is proteolytic activity that degrades the extracellular matrix (ECM) barrier (L. M. Shaw, 2005). Once cells have breached this barrier they can access the vasculature and lymphatic system (L. M. Shaw, 2005). The protocol for this experiment is similar to "2.6.1 Transwell Migration Assay", except that the upper section of the micro-porous polycarbonate membranes were coated with a Matrigel gelatinous protein mixture, which mimics the basement membrane. Matrigel is isolated from Englebreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma, and contains a mixture of basement membrane ECM proteins such as laminins, collagen IV, and

enactins (Hughes, Postovit, & Lajoie, 2010). The mixture was prepared by mixing Growth Factor Reduced Matrigel® (VWR) in 1:100 dilution with cold EMEM. Then, 100  $\mu$ L of diluted Matrigel was transferred onto the microporous polycarbonate membranes and left overnight to polymerize at room temperature. Before plating the cells, the matrigel layer was re-constituted with warm media for 30 mins at 37°C. Three hundred microliters of cell suspension (2 x 10<sup>5</sup> serum starved cells/mL of basal EMEM) was transferred to the upper well. As previously described, 700  $\mu$ L of media (no FBS or 5% FBS) was transferred to the bottom well. Cells were incubated for 48 hours, which was time period that showed the highest invasion as determined by previous work in the laboratory (Rozic et al., 2001). Membranes were fixed, stained and invading cells were counted.

### 2.7 Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Assay and Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Cellular proliferation requires the synthesis of new DNA. The Bromo-deoxyuridine (BrdU) assay measures the incorporation of BrdU into newly synthesizing DNA. BrdU is a pyrimidine analogue and is able to base pair with adenine during DNA replication. The incorporation of BrdU is used as a measure of cell proliferation (Porstmann, Ternynck, & Avrameas, 1985).

BrdU incorporation was detected using the Cell Proliferation ELISA, BrdU (colorimetric) Kit (Roche) following manufacture's protocol (Roche, 2010). Cells (100  $\mu$ L at 10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL) were transferred into a 96-well tissue culture microplate and incubated at 5%

 $CO_2$  and 37°C for 24 hours. Ten microliters of 100 µM BrdU was added to the cells and the cells were re-incubated at 37°C for 6 h. The labeling medium was removed and 200 µL of FixDenat solution was added to fix cells for 30 min at room temperature. The solution was removed and 100 µL of anti-BrdU POD working solution was added to each well for 90 min. The anti-BrdU-POD binds to the BrdU in the denatured newly synthesized DNA. Following incubation, wells were washed three times with 200 µL of washing solution (1x PBS), after which 100 uL of substrate solution was added per well for 30 min. BrdU incorporation was quantified using an Epoch Microplate Spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 370 nm with a reference wavelength of 492 nm.

#### 2.8 Tumoursphere Formation Assays

Non-adherent tumourspheres can be clonally derived from cells with stem cell properties (Dontu et al., 2003). MCF7 cells were grown until 80% confluent, trypsinized and resuspended in HuMEC media (Life Technologies) supplemented with epidermal growth factor (EGF, 20 ng/mL), fibroblast growth factor basic (FGFb, 20 ng/mL) and B-27® Supplement (1X, Invitrogen). To ensure that cells are plated as single cells, the solution was passed through a 27 ½ G needle (BD) and a 40  $\mu$ M strainer (Falcon). Five cells per well were plated into 96-well ultra-low attachment plates (Corning) for 7 days or until tumourspheres reached a size of at least 60  $\mu$ m in diameter (F. L. Shaw et al., 2012). Spheroids were counted and photomicrographs were taken using a light microscope (Leica-DFC295). Spheroid formation efficiency ( $\frac{Number of spheroids formed}{Total number of cells plated}$ ) was also calculated.

#### 2.9 Cell Staining for Immuno-fluorescence Microscopy

#### 2.9.1 Adherent cells

MCF7-Parental, MCF7-Scrambled, and MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells were grown until 80%, harvested with trypsin, and 4 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells were plated on cover-slips. After 24 hours cells were rinsed with PBS. To fix the cells, covers-slips were immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde solution (Electron Microscopy Sciences) at room temperature for 30 min, and rinsed with PBS three times. For cell permeabilization, 0.5% Triton-X100 (J T Baker Chemical Co.) in PBS was added for 10 min at room temperature, followed by three times PBS wash. Cells were blocked in 4% BSA in PBS with 0.01% Tween® 20 (Sigma) for 30 min. After rinsing with PBS, cells were incubated with primary antibody (Table 3) in 4% BSA in PBS at 4°C overnight. If the primary antibody was conjugated to a fluorochrome, incubation with secondary antibody was not necessary. If not, the slides were rinsed with PBS and incubated with secondary antibody in 4% BSA in PBS for an hour. Twenty microliters of VECTASHIELD® Mounting Medium with DAPI (Vector Laboratories) was added on to the cover-slip and transferred onto a slide. The following primary antibodies were tested: E-Cadherin, Twist1, Nanog and ALDH1.

Fluorescence intensities for Twist1 and E-Cadherin were calculated using ImageJ software. The raw integrated density was calculated for each cell and normalized to the cell area. Data were presented as an average of all the cells.

#### **2.9.2** Non-adherent cells (Tumourspheres)

Cells were grown until 80% confluent, trypsinized and re-suspended in supplemented HuMEC media following protocol outlined in tumoursphere formation assay. Ten thousand cells per mL cells were plated in 6-well non adherent cell culture plates for 5 days or until the tumourspheres reach a size of 60  $\mu$ m in diameter. After which, the tumourspheres and media were transferred into a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube and left on the bench for 15 min to allow the tumourspheres to settle to the bottom. Media was carefully removed by manual pipetting and the tip of the pipette was cut to maintain spheroid structure. The fixation, permeabilization, and anti-body staining for non-adherent cells were identical to the protocol described previously for adherent cells. The only exception is that tumourspheres were allowed to settle for 1-2 min between PBS rinses to minimize loss. The following primary antibodies were tested: ALDH1, SOX-2, and Nanog.

Quantification of fluorescence for ALDH1, Nanog, and SOX-2 were presented as ratio of cells with positive staining to the total number of cells marked by DAPI.

#### 2.10 COX-2 inhibitors, PGE<sub>2</sub>, EP4 Antagonists and Agonist Experiments

MCF7-COX-2 ( $5x10^4$ ) cells were plated onto 6-well plates. Cells were serum starved overnight, after which they were washed with PBS and incubated for 24 hours with Celecoxib (10 or 20  $\mu$ M), ONO-AE3-208 (10 or 20  $\mu$ m) or vehicle control (0.003% DMSO). Celecoxib is a selective COX-2 inhibitor while ONO-AE3-208 is a selective EP4 antagonist. To address the effect of PGE2 activity and EP4 signaling, MCF7  $(5x10^4)$  cells were plated onto 6-well plates. Cells were serum starved overnight, washed with PBS and incubated for 24 hours with PGE<sub>2</sub> (10 µM) or PGE<sub>1</sub>OH (10 µm) or vehicle control (EtOH). PGE<sub>2</sub> is a natural ligand for all EP receptors, while PGE<sub>1</sub>OH acts as a selective agonist for EP4.

For all treated cells, RNA and miRNA was extracted as previously described, converted to cDNA and real-time PCR was performed to quantify the expression of *CPEB2*.

#### 2.11 Statistical Analysis:

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism Software Version 5.01 (GraphPad Software Inc 2007). Data compared non-transfected, Scrambled and CPEB2-KD cell lines using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test or Scrambled and CPEB2-KD cells using unpaired students t-test. Results were considered statistically significant if p<0.05.

### **RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Inverse relationship of CPEB2 with COX-2, miR-655 and miR-526b expression

Differential gene and miRNA microarray analysis of MCF7 breast cancer cells stably transfected with COX-2 over-expressing plasmid revealed down-regulation of 26 genes and up-regulation of two miRNAs. These two miRNAs, miR-655 and miR-526b, have been found to be oncogenic by our lab (Dunn et al., 2014; Majumder et al., 2015). Furthermore, their expression has been positively correlated with COX-2 expression. Out of the 26 genes suppressed by COX-2 expression, thirteen are targeted by either miR-655 or miR-526b, with CPEB2 the only putative gene target of both miRNAs. Expression of *COX-2*, miR-655, miR-526b and *CPEB2* was quantified in different breast cancer cell lines. Cell lines with high *COX-2* and miRNAs expression, showed low expression of *CPEB2* (Figure 2), reinforcing the inverse relationship suggested by the differential gene and miRNA microarray analyses previously performed (Majumder et al., 2015).

# Figure 2. Breast cancer cell lines with high *COX-2*, and miR-655 and miR-526b expression demonstrate low *CPEB2* expression

**A.** We hypothesized that cells with high COX-2 have increased expression of oncogenic miR-655 and miR-526b, and low expression of CPEB2. **B.** RNA and miRNA was extracted from 4 distinct breast cancer cell lines with disparate COX-2 expression. Data are presented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Parental  $(2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}) \pm$  SEM. β-Actin and RNU-44 were used as internal controls for RNA and miRNA respectively. High *COX-2* expressing cell lines, MCF7-COX-2 and MDAMB231, showed high expression of miR-526b and miR-655 and low expression of *CPEB2*. (\*: p<0.005, \*\*\*: p<0.0005) indicates a significant difference compared to MCF7 cells (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc test, n=3).



В.

A.



36

#### 3.2 Validation of CPEB2 knockdown (KD) with small interfering RNA (siRNA)

MCF7 cells (ER+/PR+/HER2-) are low in *COX-2*, miR-655, miR-526b and high in *CPEB2* mRNA expression. To investigate the functional role of CPEB2 *in vitro*, *CPEB2* expression was suppressed in MCF7 cells using siRNAs targeting CPEB2 and a universal scrambled siRNA control at 1 $\mu$ M concentrations. The resulting cell lines were labeled as MCF7-CPEB2 KD and MCF7-Scrambled. CPEB2 expression was quantified in non-transfected (MCF7-Parental), MCF7-Scrambled and MCF7-CPEB2 KD using real-time PCR (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ CT</sup>). MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated significant down-regulation of CPEB2 compared to Parental cells (Figure 3).



Figure 3. MCF7 cells transfected with CPEB2 siRNA have significantly lower expression of CPEB2

MCF7 cells were transfected with human CPEB2 siRNA (1  $\mu$ M) and universal scrambled negative control siRNA. Resulting cell line, MCF7-CPEB2 KD showed 70% downregulation of CPEB2 compared to non-transfected MCF7-Parental cell line using relative quantification of real-time PCR data (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ CT</sup>). The data are presented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Parental ± SEM for 4 independent experiments. RPL5 was used as an internal control. (\*) indicates a significant difference (p<0.0001) compared to parental cells (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc test). MCF7-COX-2, MCF7-526b and MCF7-655 cells showed increased migration and invasion compared to control MCF7 cells (Dunn et al., 2014; Majumder et al., 2015; Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). Therefore, our putative target CPEB2 might also play a role in cell migration and invasion. To assess the migratory ability of breast cancer cells with reduced CPEB2, MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells were used in transwell migration assays. The transwell assay is a method of measuring cell migration in a 2-D environment, through a semi-permeable membrane. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had significantly increased migratory capacity compared to MCF7-Parental or Scrambled controls (Figure 4).

Furthermore, MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had significantly increased invasion capacity (Figure 5) using a complementary transwell invasion method through matrigel coated transwell inserts. Here, the ability of cells to degrade this 'basement membrane' layer and pass through the membrane was evaluated. Taking these results together, CPEB2 knockdown promotes migration and invasion *in vitro*.

#### Figure 4. Knockdown of CPEB2 increased migration in MCF7 cells

MCF7-Parental, MCF7-Scrambled or MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells were plated in the upper chamber of transwell inserts and incubated for 24 hours. The cells that passed through the insert membrane were stained with Eosin and Thiasine, and counted by microscopy. A. Images of migration transwell inserts showing number of migratory cells (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m). B. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had a 2-fold increase in migration compared to MCF7-Parental cells. There was no difference in migration between MCF7-Parental and MCF7-Scrambled cells. Data are represented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Parental  $\pm$  SEM for 3 experiments. (\*) indicates a significant difference (p=0.0038) compared to parental cells (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc test).



B.





Figure 5. Knockdown of CPEB2 increased invasion in MCF7 cells

MCF7-Parental, MCF7-Scrambled and MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells were plated in the upper chamber of transwell inserts coated with matrigel. After 48 hours, the cells that degraded the layer of matrigel and passed through the insert membrane were stained with Eosin and Thiasine, and counted. MCF7-CPEB2 KD had a 2.4-fold increase in invasion compared to MCF7-Parental cells. There was no significant difference in invasion between MCF7-Parental and Scrambled cells. Data are represented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Parental  $\pm$  SEM for 3 experiments. (\*) indicates a significant difference (p=0.0127) compared to parental cells (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc test). To delineate the role of CPEB2 in cell proliferation, a BrdU incorporation assay was performed. BrdU is integrated into newly synthesizing DNA during replication. The amount of BrdU present in the cells is then used as a measure of cellular proliferation. There was no significant difference in the amount of BrdU incorporated between Parental and CPEB2 KD cells (Figure 6). Therefore, we concluded that CPEB2 did not play a major role in cellular proliferation.



Figure 6. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have no change in cell proliferation

MCF7-Parental, MCF7-Scrambled and MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells were plated in 96 well plates. BrdU incorporation was measured after 6 hours of incubation. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells showed no significant change (1.18 fold increase) in the average BrdU incorporated into cells compared to MCF7-Parental cells. The data are represented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Parental  $\pm$  SEM for 3 experiments (One-way ANOVA, p=0.11).

#### 3.5 Down-regulation of CPEB2 promoted an EMT phenotype

Previous work done in this laboratory has determined that over-expressing miR-526b *in vitro* decreased expression of *CDH1* and up-regulated mesenchymal markers *Twist1*, *VIM*, and *Snail1* (Majumder et al., 2015). Furthermore, as shown in Figure 4, down-regulating *CPEB2* resulted in increased migration ability. To test whether CPEB2 KD was associated with an EMT switch, different epithelial and mesenchymal markers were tested (mRNA and IF). CPEB2 KD resulted in an increase in *Twist1* and *ZEB1*, however there was no change in *Snai1* and *VIM* (Figure 7). Figure 8 validated that Twist1 expression increased at the protein level as well. At the same time, E-Cadherin levels decreased with CPEB2 KD (Figure 9). Collectively, we determined that CPEB2 KD decreases E-Cadherin protein and increases Twist1 and Zeb1 in MCF7 cells, thus has an important role in EMT.



Figure 7. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have increased expression of mesenchymal marker Twist1

MCF7 cells transfected with human CPEB2 siRNA were compared to scrambled control transfected cells for mesenchymal markers using relative quantification by real-time PCR  $(2^{-\Delta\Delta CT})$ . MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had a 1.6 fold increase in *Twist1* expression compared to MCF7-Scrambled cells (p=0.0104). Furthermore there was a trend towards increased *ZEB1* in CPEB2 KD cells (p=0.0556). There was no change in *SNA11* and *VIM* between CPEB2 KD and control groups. The data are presented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Scrambled ± SEM for 3 experiments. RPL5 was used as an internal control. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test).

## Figure 8. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have increased expression of mesenchymal marker Twist1

**A.** Twist1 antibody (1:250 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD cells fixed onto coverslips. Cells were imaged using Olympus FV1000. Representative images are shown at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and Twist1 is shown as green cytoplasmic staining, and merged shows both. **B.** Quantification of representative immuno-fluorescence images was performed using ImageJ. Data are presented as the average of raw integrated density divided by cell area. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had a 2.6 fold increase in Twist1 intensity compared to MCF7-Scrambled. The data are presented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Scrambled ± SEM. (\*) indicates a significant difference compared to Scrambled (unpaired t-test p<0.0001).





B.



### Figure 9. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells have decreased expression of epithelial marker E-Cadherin

**A.** E-Cadherin antibody (1:250 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD cells fixed onto coverslips. Cells were imaged using Olympus FV1000. Representative images are shown at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and E-Cadherin is shown as green cell membrane staining, and merged shows both. **B.** Quantification of immuno-fluorescence pictures using ImageJ. Data are represented as the average of raw integrated density divided by cell area. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had 67% reduced E-Cadherin staining intensity compared to MCF7-Scrambled. Data are presented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Scrambled  $\pm$  SEM. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired ttest p<0.0001).





B.



MCF7-Scrambled

MCF7-CPEB2 KD

#### **3.6 Down-regulation of CPEB2 stimulated a SLC phenotype**

MCF7-COX-2 cells demonstrated higher proportion of ALDH<sup>high</sup>CD44<sup>+</sup> cells, increased tumoursphere forming ability when cultured under ultra-low attachment conditions and higher expression of miR-655 and miR-526b compared to MCF7-Mock transfected cell (Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). Furthermore, MCF7-526b cells cultured in 6 well ultra-low attachment plates demonstrated higher spheroid formation efficiency than MCF7-Mock cells (Majumder et al., 2015). Because these results suggest increased SLC phenotype in MCF7-COX2 and MCF7-526b cells, we next investigated the role of CPEB2 KD on SLC phenotype.

CPEB2 siRNA transfected cells were maintained in non-adherent conditions for 8 days. Real-time PCR demonstrated that MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells retained reduced CPEB2 expression compared to MCF7-Scrambled cells for the duration of the spheroid formation assay (8 days, Figure 10). MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated higher spheroid formation efficiency compared to scrambled control cells (Figure 11). Different markers for SLC were also tested for MCF7-CPEB2 KD and MCF7-Scrambled cells cultured in monolayer and tumoursphere conditions. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells showed a higher proportion of ALDH1 positive cells in monolayers compared to scrambled controls (Figure 12). In addition, Figure 13 demonstrates that CPEB2 KD tumourspheres also retained higher expression of ALDH1. CPEB2 KD cells also showed higher Nanog expression in monolayer and tumourspheres (Figure 14 and 15). Furthermore, SOX-2 expression was demonstrated to be higher in CPEB2 KD tumourspheres compared to scrambled control tumourspheres (Figure 16). Collectively, we demonstrated that CPEB2 KD promotes a SLC phenotype, with increased spheroid formation efficiency and

expression of plutipolency markers Nanog, SOA-2 and A	xpression
---	-----------



Figure 10. Eight days after siRNA transfection, MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells retained lower expression of *CPEB2* 

MCF7 cells were transfected with human CPEB2 siRNA (1  $\mu$ M) and universal scrambled control siRNA. Eight days after transfection, MCF7-CPEB2 KD demonstrated a 45% reduction in *CPEB2* compared to MCF7-Scrambled cells using relative quantification of real-time PCR (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ CT</sup>). Data are presented as average fold change normalized to MCF7-Scrambled  $\pm$  SEM for 3 experimental replicates. RPL5 was used as an internal control. (\*) indicates a significant difference compared to control cells (unpaired t-test, p=0.0007).



Figure 11. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated increased spheroid formation

MCF7-Scrambled and MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells were plated in 96 well ultra-low attachment plates at a concentration of 5 cells per well. After 7 days, spheroids greater than 60  $\mu$ m were counted manually under bright-field microscopy. Spheroid formation efficiency was calculated as the ratio of number of spheroids formed to number of cells plated. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells had a higher SFE (0.13) than MCF7-Scrambled cells (0.10). (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test, p=0.0411, n=3).

# Figure 12. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells grown in monolayer have increased expression of ALDH1

**A.** ALDH1 antibody (1:300 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD cells grown in monolayers. Cells were imaged using an Olympus FV1000 fluorescent microscope. All image panels are at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and ALDH1 is shown as green cytoplasmic staining, and merged shows both. **B.** Quantification of ALDH1 expression. Data are presented as ratio of positive cells to the total number of DAPI+ cells normalized to MCF7-Scrambled controls. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated a 3.8 fold increase in ALDH1 positive cells compared to MCF7-Scrambled cells. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test, p=0.0389).





B.



56

**A.** ALDH1 antibody (1:300 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD tumourspheres. Cells were imaged using an Olympus FV1000 fluorescent microscope. All image panels are at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and ALDH1 is shown as green cytoplasmic staining, and merged shows both. **B.** Quantification of ALDH1 expression. Data are presented as ratio of positive cells to the total number of DAPI+ cells normalized to MCF7-Scrambled controls. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated a 2.6 fold increase in ALDH1 positive cells compared to MCF7-Scrambled. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test, p=0.0428).



B.



A.
# Figure 14. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells grown in monolayer demonstrated increased Nanog expression

A. Nanog antibody (1:300 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD cells grown in monolayers. Cells were imaged using an Olympus FV1000 fluorescent microscope. All image panels are at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and Nanog is shown as green nuclear staining, and merged shows both. B. Quantification of Nanog expression. Data are presented as ratio of positive cells to the total number of DAPI+ cells normalized to MCF7-Scrambled controls. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated 6.5 fold increase in Nanog positive cells compared to MCF7-Scrambled. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test, p=0.0064).







# Figure 15. MCF7-CPEB2 KD tumourspheres demonstrated increased Nanog expression

**A.** Nanog antibody (1:300 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD tumourspheres. Cells were imaged using an Olympus FV1000 fluorescent microscope. All image panels are at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and Nanog is shown as green nuclear staining, and merged shows both. B. Quantification of Nanog expression. Data are presented as ratio of positive cells to the total number of DAPI+ cells normalized to MCF7-Scrambled controls. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated a 4.1 fold increase in Nanog positive cells compared to MCF7-Scrambled. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test, p< 0.0001).



B.



**A.** SOX-2 antibody (1:300 in 4% BSA in PBS) was added onto MCF7-Scrambled and CPEB2 KD tumourspheres. Cells were imaged using an Olympus FV1000 fluorescent microscope. All image panels are at the same magnification (scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m, bottom right panel). DAPI is shown as blue nuclei staining and SOX-2 is shown as green nuclear staining, and merged shows both. **B.** Quantification of SOX-2 staining. Data are presented as ratio of positive cells to the total number of DAPI+ cells normalized to MCF7-Scrambled controls. MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated a 4.4 fold increase in Nanog positive cells compared to MCF7-Scrambled. (\*) indicates a significant difference (unpaired t-test, p=0.002).



B.



A.

#### 3.7 COX-2 and EP4 inhibition increased CPEB2 expression

We have previously shown that blocking COX-2 activity and EP4 signaling resulted in reduced angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, tumour growth and metastasis to the lungs (Xin et al., 2012). Furthermore, MCF7 cells treated with  $PGE_2$  and selective EP4 agonist demonstrated an increase in miR-655 and miR-526b levels, while treatment with COX-2 inhibitor and EP4 antagonists resulted in decreased miRNA levels (Majumder et al., 2015; Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). To examine the ability of COX-2 activity and EP4 signaling to modulate CPEB2 expression, MCF7-COX-2 cells were treated with selective COX-2 inhibitor (Celecoxib) and EP4 antagonist (ONO-AE3-208, ONO), while MCF7 cells were treated with PGE<sub>2</sub> (EP1-4 ligand) and EP4 agonist (PGE<sub>1</sub>OH). Figure 17 demonstrates that MCF7-COX-2 cells treated with Celecoxib had significantly higher *CPEB2* expressions at both 10  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M compared to DMSO treated cells. At the same time, MCF7-COX2 cells treated with ONO also had significantly higher expression of CPEB2 at 20 µM compared to DMSO treated cells (Figure 17). Surprisingly, MCF7 cells treated with PGE<sub>2</sub> and PGE<sub>1</sub>OH demonstrated no change in CPEB2 expression compared to EtOH treated controls (Figure 18). Therefore, we were able to demonstrate that only blocking COX-2 activity and EP4 signaling could modulate *CPEB2* expression.

# Figure 17. Cells treated with EP4 antagonist and COX-2 specific inhibitors have increased *CPEB2* expression

MCF7-COX-2 cells were treated with **A.** selective COX-2 inhibitor Celecoxib, or **B.** EP4 Antagonist ONO-AE3-208 at two different concentrations (10  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M), and compared to DMSO (0.0003%) control after for 24 hours culture. MCF7-COX-2 cells treated with Celecoxib at 10  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M showed a 1.6 and 3.3 fold increase in *CPEB2* expression compared to DMSO (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc test, p<0.0001). MCF7-COX-2 cells treated with ONO at 20  $\mu$ M showed a 1.25 fold increase in *CPEB2* expression compared to DMSO treated cells (one-way ANOVA, Tukey's post hoc test, p=0.0391). The data are presented as average fold change normalized to DMSO treated cells ± SEM for 3 experiments. (\*) indicates a significant difference.







A.



MCF7 cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M PGE<sub>2</sub> (EP1-4 ligand), 10  $\mu$ M PGE<sub>1</sub>OH (EP4 agonist), and compared to 0.13% EtOH control after 24 hours culture. There were no significant changes in *CPEB2* expression in either treatment. The data are presented as average fold change normalized to EtOH treated cells ± SEM for 3 experiments (one-way ANOVA, p=0.7065).



## 4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

#### 4.1 Summary of Findings and Conclusions

*Objective 1: To investigate if there is an inverse relationship between expression levels of a) CPEB2 and COX-2 and b) CPEB2 and miR-655 or miR-526b in human breast cancer cell lines.* 

Expression of COX-2, miR-655, miR-526b and CPEB2 were tested in MCF7, SKBR3, MDAMB231 and MCF7-COX2 cell lines. High COX-2 cell lines such as MCF7-COX-2 and MDA-MB-231 demonstrated high expression of miR-655 and miR-526b and low expression of CPEB-2 compared to low COX-2 cell lines such as MCF7 and SKBR3. The observed association between high COX-2, high miRNA and low CPEB2 expression, validates the inverse relationship demonstrated by the differential gene and miRNA microarray analysis (Majumder et al., 2015).

#### Objective 2: To investigate the functional role of CPEB2 in human breast cancer.

CPEB2 expression was down-regulated using siRNAs in MCF7 (low COX-2/miRNAs) cells. The resultant MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells demonstrated increased migration and invasion in transwell assays, with no change in cellular proliferation rates. Furthermore, CPEB2 down-regulation was also associated with an EMT phenotype where E-Cadherin protein decreased and Twist1 mRNA and protein increased. There was also an increase in ZEB1 mRNA. Additionally, MCF7-CPEB2 KD cells displayed increased tumoursphere forming ability in ultra-low attachment plates. When tested for different SLC-associated maker expression, CPEB2 KD cells had a higher frequency of ALDH1, Nanog and SOX-

2 expressing cells. These data suggest that CPEB2 is anti-migratory and anti-invasive in vitro, and down-regulation of CPEB2 results in a more aggressive breast cancer phenotype. Thus, CPEB2 expression can also be implicated in the metastatic cascade during COX-2 mediated breast cancer progression.

*Objective 3: To investigate the effects of COX-2 inhibitor, and PGE<sub>2</sub> (EP1-4 ligand), EP4 agonist and antagonist treatments on CPEB2 levels.* 

MCF7-COX-2 cells were first treated with Celecoxib (selective COX-2 inhibitor) and ONO-AE3-208 (selective EP4 antagonist), and DMSO control. Both treatments resulted in an increase in CPEB2 expression compared to DMSO treated cells, as expected. Thus CPEB2 expression in high COX-2 cells is dependent on both COX-2 and EP4 activity. Surprisingly, activating the EP receptors (with PGE<sub>2</sub>) and EP4 receptor (with selective agonist PGE<sub>1</sub>OH) in low COX-2/high CPEB2 cells resulted in no significant change in CPEB2 expression. These data suggest that down-regulation of CPEB2 in high CPEB2 expressing cells is possibly regulated by alternate signaling pathways outside of EP activity. Therefore, it is likely that cells might have different mechanisms of up-regulating and down-regulating CPEB2.

#### 4.2 Contribution to the Current Field of Research

The role of COX-2 in cancer progression is widely recognized. *In vivo* mouse studies have shown that deletion of *COX-2* results in reduced intestinal tumourigenesis (Oshima et al., 1996). At the same time, patients who were treated with COX-2 inhibitors or low-dose aspirin demonstrated a decrease in the number of polyps formed and fatal colon cancer (Thun et al., 1991). In breast cancer, high COX-2 has been associated with an aggressive breast cancer phenotype, with increased invasion, and decreased disease free survival rates (Barnes, Haywood, Flint, Knox, & Bundred, 2006; Larkins, Nowell, Singh, & Sanford, 2006; Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). Additionally, COX-2 inhibitors in breast cancer displayed chemo-preventive properties (Harris et al., 2000; Harris, 2009; Majumder, Xin, Liu, Girish, et al., 2014; Xin et al., 2012). Unfortunately, use of COX-2 inhibitors for a prolonged period revealed serious thromboembolic side-effects in a subset of patients (Fitzgerald, 2004; Nussmeier et al., 2005). Therefore, our lab is investigating downstream effectors of the COX-2 pathway as potential therapeutic targets in high COX-2 breast cancer.

Our laboratory has previously established that COX-2 exerts its effects through overproduction of PGE<sub>2</sub> activating the prostanoid receptor EP4 (Majumder, Xin, Liu, Girish, et al., 2014; Timoshenko et al., 2004, 2003; Xin et al., 2012). Both increased COX-2 activity and stimulation of EP4 resulted in increased expression of miR-655 and miR-526b in breast cancer cells. Both miRNAs revealed similar oncogenic properties including SLC induction *in vitro* (Dunn et al., 2014; Majumder et al., 2015). MiRNAs play an important role in cancer. These small non-coding RNA molecules bind and down-regulate the expression of certain target genes. Since we have found both miR- 526b and miR-655 to be oncogenic in our lab, by extension we believe that their target gene, CPEB2, should have tumour-suppressor-like functions. The underlying purpose of this study was to identify the functional role of CPEB2 in breast cancer progression.

# 4.3 Role of CPEB2 in breast cancer cell migration, invasion, SLC induction and EMT

We observed that high COX2, high miRNA breast cancer cell lines have decreased CPEB2. Both COX-2 induced miR-655 and miR-526b have been shown to increase cellular migration and invasion. Therefore, we predicted that the gene target CPEB2 should be anti-migratory and anti-invasive. As expected CPEB2 KD cells showed increased migration and invasion in transwell assays, supporting our hypothesis that CPEB2 plays an anti-oncogenic role in breast cancer. Interestingly, a recent study has shown that miR-550a is pro-metastatic in hepatocellular carcinoma (Tian et al., 2012). MiR-550a binds to and down-regulates CPEB4. Gain-of function studies have demonstrated that CPEB4 is able to suppress miR-550a induced migration and invasion (Tian et al., 2012). Additionally, miR-92 and miR-26 both bind to the 3'UTR of CPEB2, suggesting that CPEB2 contains functional miRNA binding sites (Morgan et al., 2010).

In a previous study, CPEB1 was shown to be SLC suppressive. Ectopic CPEB1 expression induced differentiation of glioma stem cells and reduced spheroid formation (Yin et al., 2014). In addition, CPEB1 was shown to reduce the expression of SLC markers SOX-2 and Nestin and increase expression of differentiation marker GFAP (Yin et al., 2014). In the present project, we extensively explored the ability of CPEB2 KD to

increase SLC properties of breast cancer cells *in vitro*. We found that CPEB2 KD cells had increased ability to form spheroids, and displayed increased expression of SOX-2, Nanog and ALDH1. Thus, we demonstrate for the first time that CPEB2 suppresses SLC phenotype in human breast cancer.

EMT has also been implicated with increased invasion, metastasis and cancer progression (Thiery, 2002), and has more recently associated with SLCs (Mani et al., 2008). Cells transfected with Snail and Twist1 over-expressing plasmids had increased tumoursphere forming ability and were enriched for stem cell markers indicated by a CD44<sup>high</sup>/CD24<sup>low</sup> cells. Conversely, mammary epithelial cells sorted for CD44<sup>high</sup>/CD24<sup>low</sup> population showed high expression levels of EMT-associated genes, for instance low levels of *CDH1* and high levels of *CDH2* (Mani et al., 2008). In our studies, we found that CPEB2 KD decreased expression of E-Cadherin protein and increased expression of mesenchymal marker Twist1. Thus, CPEB2 KD cells were enriched in both SLCs and resembled an EMT-like phenotype. A previous study demonstrated that CPEB2 is a negative regulator of EMT progression and Twist1 expression (Nairismägi et al., 2012). EMT phenotype is considered to be a promoter of cell motility. Present observation of increased migration may be a consequence of EMT in CPEB2 KD cells. Taken together, CPEB2 stimulation might represent an important target for the prevention of cancer progression.

Multiple studies from other laboratories and ours have demonstrated the importance of EP4 signaling in COX-2 mediated breast cancer progression. EP4 is a downstream target in the COX-2 pathway that avoids the disruption of prostanoids such as  $PGI_2$  and associated adverse cardiovascular events (Graham, 2006). As such EP4 represents a promising therapeutic target in breast cancer. EP4 has previously been shown to regulate proliferation, invasion and immune-suppression of natural killer cells (Ma et al., 2013; Robertson et al., 2008). Furthermore, the EP4 receptor has been linked to angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis and metastasis (Timoshenko et al., 2006; Xin et al., 2012). COX-2 up-regulation of EP4 mediated signaling also increases the expression of oncogenic miR-526b and miR-655 (Majumder et al., 2015; Majumder, Postovit, et al., 2014). By extension, we expected that EP4 antagonists should increase CPEB2 levels in high COX-2 cells. MCF7-COX-2 cells were treated with Celecoxib (selective COX-2 inhibitor) and ONO-AE3-208 (EP4 antagonist). As expected, both treatments in high COX-2 cells displayed high CPEB2 mRNA levels. Interestingly, Celecoxib induced a greater upregulation of CPEB2 than ONO-AE3-208 suggesting that CPEB2 expression might be modulated through other EP receptors as well. Surprisingly, treatment with PGE<sub>2</sub> and EP4 agonist in high CPEB2 MCF7 cells could not suppress CPEB2 expression. Thus, it is likely that EP4 signaling is just one of the players regulating CPEB2 expression in CPEB2 high cells, suggesting that CPEB2 up-regulation and down-regulation have different mechanisms. Since we could demonstrated an increase in CPEB2 expression following EP4 antagonist treatment, low CPEB2 might be used as a marker for EP4

targeted therapy used in conjunction with traditional therapy in high COX-2 breast cancer.

#### 4.5 Limitations of the Study

CPEB2 gene manipulations were only tested in one cell line, MCF7, which is a poorly metastatic breast cancer cell line. Ideally inclusion of a non-tumourgenic mammary epithelial cell line such as MCF10A would strengthen the present study. Furthermore, a naturally occurring CPEB2 low cell line, such as MDAMB231, could also have been manipulated to examine CPEB2 gain-of-function effects. Another limitation of the present study is that CPEB2 levels were measured at the RNA level and not protein level. Unfortunately, at this time there is no reliable and commercially available antibody for CPEB2, therefore changes at the protein level could not be addressed. There are currently six different predicted isoforms of *CPEB2* (*CPEB2* A-F, Table 4). Thus, deciphering the role of each isoform will be an interesting and important part of future studies to understand the role of CPEB2 in breast cancer.

Our proliferation assay using 6 h BrdU uptake did not reveal any change in proliferation in CPEB2 KD cells compared to control cells. The results would have been strengthened by an additional assay such as temporal changes in viable cell numbers for a longer period such as 72 hours using a MTT assay.

To examine the SLC phenotype, an *in vitro* assay for spheroid formation efficiency was conducted. This was supplemented with immuno-fluorescence images at both monolayer and tumoursphere for SLC markers ALDH1, Nanog and SOX-2. This section can be

further improved by an examination of SLC markers at the transcription level and measurements of ALDH activity by flow cytometry.

Another aspect of the project that can be further explored is the role of the miR-655 and miR-526b on CPEB2 gene manipulation. By looking at the different breast cancer cell lines, we can conclude that high COX-2, high miRNA cell lines have low CPEB2 expression. However, we cannot assume that the miRNAs directly target CPEB2. A luciferase reporter assay can properly validate that the miRNAs target and down-regulate CPEB2 expression.

#### 4.6 Future Directions: Role of CPEB2 in Hypoxia

Cancer cells with a rapid proliferation rate expand into a tumour mass. Eventually the middle of the mass experiences cell death as the rate of oxygen diffusion is not able to keep up with the rapidly expanding mass (Brahimi-Horn, Chiche, & Pouysségur, 2007). One mechanism through which cancer cells adapt to low oxygen levels is by the up-regulation of (HIF)-1. HIF-1 is composed of two transcription factors, inducible HIF-1 $\alpha$  and constitutively expressed HIF-1 $\beta$ . These transcription factors regulate a number of genes that promote cell-survival such as angiongenic factors like VEGF (Brahimi-Horn et al., 2007; Jung, Isaacs, Lee, Trepel, & Neckers, 2003).

Colorectal carcinoma cell lines exposed to hypoxic condition demonstrated an expected increase HIF-1 $\alpha$  (Kaidi, Qualtrough, Williams, & Paraskeva, 2006). Interestingly COX-2 protein was also up-regulated in these hypoxic conditions (Kaidi et al., 2006). A complementary study determined that COX-2 contains a functional binding site for HIF-1 $\alpha$  (Csiki et al., 2006; Kaidi et al., 2006). Furthermore, stimulation with PGE<sub>2</sub> has been shown to increase HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein (Csiki et al., 2006). These results establish a link between COX-2 and HIF-1 $\alpha$ .

As mentioned previously, CPEB2 binds to the 3' UTR of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and modulates translation of the protein (Chen & Huang, 2012; Hägele et al., 2009). In normal conditions, CPEB2 interacts with eEF2 and the 3'UTR of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , to suppress translation of the protein (Chen & Huang, 2012). In stressed conditions, CPEB2 dissociates from eEF2 and HIF-1 $\alpha$ , allowing the translation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein (Chen & Huang, 2012).

Taking the results from our study into account, it is possible that COX-2 up-regulation suppresses CPEB2, via PGE<sub>2</sub>, EP4 and oncogenic miR-526b and miR-655, and by doing so increases HIF-1 $\alpha$  production in breast cancer. HIF-1 $\alpha$  has been implicated in a positive feedback loop, where it up-regulates COX-2. This in turn can suppress CPEB2 levels and maintain translation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  protein. Therefore, it would be interesting to test if there is increased COX-2, decreased CPEB2 and increased HIF-1 $\alpha$  in a hypoxic environment.

Up-regulation of COX-2 enzyme results in increased prostanoid production, more specifically increased PGE<sub>2</sub>. PGE<sub>2</sub> can bind to four EP receptors, including EP4. Increased EP4 signaling results in the production of two oncogenic miRNAs in breast cancer, miR-655 and miR-526b. Both oncogenic miRNAs have target sites on CPEB2. It is predicted that increased miRNA production results in decreased CPEB2 expression. CPEB2 is a translational repressor of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . With reduced CPEB2 levels, repression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  is alleviated. HIF-1 $\alpha$  has binding sites on COX-2, and participates in a feed forward loop which results in increased COX-2 production (Jung et al., 2003; Kaidi et al., 2006; Majumder et al., 2015).



#### **4.7 Conclusions**

In this study it was observed that high COX-2 and high miRNA (miR-655 and miR-526b) expressing breast cancer cells lines have low CPEB2 expression. As determined by *in vitro* assays, CPEB2 KD cells revealed increased cellular migration and invasion, without any effect on proliferation. For the first time, we showed that CPEB2 KD has a role in SLC induction, indicated by increased tumoursphere formation and expression of SLC markers ALDH1, Nanog and SOX-2. Also, CPEB2 KD cells exhibited EMT demonstrated by reduced E-Cadherin protein levels and increased Twist1 expression. Our results also reveal that CPEB2 expression could be reduced by blocking EP4 signaling with antagonists. These results suggest that CPEB2 is a tumour-suppressor-like gene and down-regulation of this gene results in an aggressive breast cancer phenotype.

### **REFERENCES**

- Adams, C. L., & Nelson, W. J. (1998). Cytomechanics of cadherin-mediated cell—cell adhesion. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 10(5), 572–577. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0955-0674(98)80031-8
- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M. S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S. J., & Clarke, M. F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100(7), 3983–8. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0530291100
- Al-Nakhle, H., Burns, P. A., Cummings, M., Hanby, A. M., Hughes, T. A., Satheesha, S., ... Speirs, V. (2010). Estrogen receptor {beta}1 expression is regulated by miR-92 in breast cancer. *Cancer Research*, 70(11), 4778–84. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4104
- ATCC. (2015). MCF7 (ATCC<sup>®</sup> HTB-22<sup>TM</sup>). Retrieved June 2, 2015, from http://www.atcc.org/
- Barnes, N., Haywood, P., Flint, P., Knox, W. F., & Bundred, N. J. (2006). Survivin expression in in situ and invasive breast cancer relates to COX-2 expression and DCIS recurrence. *British Journal of Cancer*, 94(2), 253–8. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6602932
- Bartel, D. (2004). MicroRNAsGenomics, Biogenesis, Mechanism, and Function. *Cell*, *116*(2), 281–297. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00045-5
- Bertos, N. R., & Park, M. (2011). Breast cancer one term, many entities? *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *121*(10), 3789–96. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57100
- Bos, C. L., Richel, D. J., Ritsema, T., Peppelenbosch, M. P., & Versteeg, H. H. (2004). Prostanoids and prostanoid receptors in signal transduction. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 36(7), 1187–205. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2003.08.006
- Brahimi-Horn, M. C., Chiche, J., & Pouysségur, J. (2007). Hypoxia and cancer. *Journal* of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany), 85(12), 1301–7. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-007-0281-3
- Burns, D. M., & Richter, J. D. (2008). CPEB regulation of human cellular senescence, energy metabolism, and p53 mRNA translation. *Genes & Development*, 22(24), 3449–60. http://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1697808
- Calin, G. A., & Croce, C. M. (2006). MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 6(11), 857–66. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1997

- Campbell, L. L., & Polyak, K. (2014). Breast Tumor Heterogeneity: Cancer Stem Cells or Clonal Evolution? *Cell Cycle*, 6(19), 2332–2338. http://doi.org/10.4161/cc.6.19.4914
- Carthew, R. W., & Sontheimer, E. J. (2009). Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell*, *136*(4), 642–55. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.035
- Chandrasekharan, N. V, Dai, H., Roos, K. L. T., Evanson, N. K., Tomsik, J., Elton, T. S., & Simmons, D. L. (2002). COX-3, a cyclooxygenase-1 variant inhibited by acetaminophen and other analgesic/antipyretic drugs: cloning, structure, and expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(21), 13926–31. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.162468699
- Chavez, K. J., Garimella, S. V, & Lipkowitz, S. (2010). Triple negative breast cancer cell lines: one tool in the search for better treatment of triple negative breast cancer. *Breast Disease*, 32(1-2), 35–48. http://doi.org/10.3233/BD-2010-0307
- Chen, P.-J., & Huang, Y.-S. (2012). CPEB2-eEF2 interaction impedes HIF-1α RNA translation. *The EMBO Journal*, *31*(4), 959–71. http://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.448
- Chiou, S.-H., Wang, M.-L., Chou, Y.-T., Chen, C.-J., Hong, C.-F., Hsieh, W.-J., ... Wu, C.-W. (2010). Coexpression of Oct4 and Nanog enhances malignancy in lung adenocarcinoma by inducing cancer stem cell-like properties and epithelialmesenchymal transdifferentiation. *Cancer Research*, 70(24), 10433–44. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2638
- Croker, A. K., Goodale, D., Chu, J., Postenka, C., Hedley, B. D., Hess, D. A., & Allan, A. L. (2009). High aldehyde dehydrogenase and expression of cancer stem cell markers selects for breast cancer cells with enhanced malignant and metastatic ability. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 13(8B), 2236–52. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00455.x
- Csiki, I., Yanagisawa, K., Haruki, N., Nadaf, S., Morrow, J. D., Johnson, D. H., & Carbone, D. P. (2006). Thioredoxin-1 modulates transcription of cyclooxygenase-2 via hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Research*, 66(1), 143–50. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1357
- D'Ambrogio, A., Nagaoka, K., & Richter, J. D. (2013). Translational control of cell growth and malignancy by the CPEBs. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *13*(4), 283–90. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3485
- Dontu, G., Abdallah, W. M., Foley, J. M., Jackson, K. W., Clarke, M. F., Kawamura, M. J., & Wicha, M. S. (2003). In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. *Genes & Development*, 17(10), 1253–70. http://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1061803

- Dunn, L., Majumder, M., & Lala, P. (2014). Abstract 139: The role of miRNAs in cyclooxygenase-2-mediated breast cancer progression. *Cancer Research*, 72(8 Supplement), 139–139. http://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2012-139
- Eberhart, C. E., Coffey, R. J., Radhika, A., Giardiello, F. M., Ferrenbach, S., & Dubois, R. N. (1994). Up-regulation of cyclooxygenase 2 gene expression in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. *Gastroenterology*, 107(4), 1183–1188. http://doi.org/10.5555/uri:pii:0016508594902461
- Ezeh, U. I., Turek, P. J., Reijo, R. A., & Clark, A. T. (2005). Human embryonic stem cell genes OCT4, NANOG, STELLAR, and GDF3 are expressed in both seminoma and breast carcinoma. *Cancer*, 104(10), 2255–65. http://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.21432
- FitzGerald, G. A. (2003). COX-2 and beyond: Approaches to prostaglandin inhibition in human disease. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 2(11), 879–90. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1225
- Fitzgerald, G. A. (2004). Coxibs and cardiovascular disease. The New England Journal of Medicine, 351(17), 1709–11. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp048288
- Flower, R. J. (2003). The development of COX2 inhibitors. Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery, 2(3), 179–91. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1034
- Fraga, D., Meulia, T., & Fenster, S. (2008). Real-Time PCR. Current Protocols Essential Laboratory Techniques, 44(2), 1–13. http://doi.org/10.2144/000112741
- Fujino, H., & Regan, J. W. (2006). EP(4) prostanoid receptor coupling to a pertussis toxin-sensitive inhibitory G protein. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 69(1), 5–10. http://doi.org/10.1124/mol.105.017749
- Fujino, H., Xu, W., & Regan, J. W. (2003). Prostaglandin E2 induced functional expression of early growth response factor-1 by EP4, but not EP2, prostanoid receptors via the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and extracellular signal-regulated kinases. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(14), 12151–6. http://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M212665200
- Graham, D. J. (2006). COX-2 inhibitors, other NSAIDs, and cardiovascular risk: the seduction of common sense. *JAMA*, 296(13), 1653–6. http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.13.jed60058
- Groisman, I., Ivshina, M., Marin, V., Kennedy, N. J., Davis, R. J., & Richter, J. D. (2006). Control of cellular senescence by CPEB. *Genes & Development*, 20(19), 2701–12. http://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1438906
- Hackett, A. J., Smith, H. S., Springer, E. L., Owens, R. B., Nelson-Rees, W. A., Riggs, J. L., & Gardner, M. B. (1977). Two Syngeneic Cell Lines from Human Breast Tissue:

The Aneuploid Mammary Epithelial (Hs578T) and the Diploid Myoepithelial (Hs578Bst) Cell Lines. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 58(6), 1795–1806. http://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/58.6.1795

- Hägele, S., Kühn, U., Böning, M., & Katschinski, D. M. (2009). Cytoplasmic polyadenylation-element-binding protein (CPEB)1 and 2 bind to the HIF-1alpha mRNA 3'-UTR and modulate HIF-1alpha protein expression. *The Biochemical Journal*, 417(1), 235–46. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20081353
- Hake, L. E., Mendez, R., & Richter, J. D. (1998). Specificity of RNA Binding by CPEB: Requirement for RNA Recognition Motifs and a Novel Zinc Finger. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 18(2), 685–693. Retrieved from http://mcb.asm.org/content/18/2/685.short
- Hake, L. E., & Richter, J. D. (1994). CPEB is a specificity factor that mediates cytoplasmic polyadenylation during Xenopus oocyte maturation. *Cell*, 79(4), 617–627. http://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90547-9
- Han, S. Y., Gai, W., Yancovitz, M., Osman, I., Di Como, C. J., & Polsky, D. (2008). Nucleofection is a highly effective gene transfer technique for human melanoma cell lines. *Experimental Dermatology*, 17(5), 405–11. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2007.00687.x
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–74. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Harris, R. E. (2009). Cyclooxygenase-2 (cox-2) blockade in the chemoprevention of cancers of the colon, breast, prostate, and lung. *Inflammopharmacology*, 17(2), 55– 67. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-009-8049-8
- Harris, R. E., Alshafie, G. A., Abou-Issa, H., & Seibert, K. (2000). Chemoprevention of Breast Cancer in Rats by Celecoxib, a Cyclooxygenase 2 Inhibitor. *Cancer Res.*, 60(8), 2101–2103. Retrieved from http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/60/8/2101.short
- Holliday, D. L., & Speirs, V. (2011). Choosing the right cell line for breast cancer research. Breast Cancer Research : BCR, 13(4), 215. http://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2889
- Huang, Y.-S., Jung, M.-Y., Sarkissian, M., & Richter, J. D. (2002). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor signaling results in Aurora kinase-catalyzed CPEB phosphorylation and alpha CaMKII mRNA polyadenylation at synapses. *The EMBO Journal*, 21(9), 2139–48. http://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/21.9.2139
- Huang, Y.-S., Kan, M.-C., Lin, C.-L., & Richter, J. D. (2006). CPEB3 and CPEB4 in neurons: analysis of RNA-binding specificity and translational control of AMPA receptor GluR2 mRNA. *The EMBO Journal*, 25(20), 4865–76. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601322

- Hughes, C. S., Postovit, L. M., & Lajoie, G. A. (2010). Matrigel: a complex protein mixture required for optimal growth of cell culture. *Proteomics*, 10(9), 1886–90. http://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200900758
- Huse, J. T., Brennan, C., Hambardzumyan, D., Wee, B., Pena, J., Rouhanifard, S. H., ... Holland, E. C. (2009). The PTEN-regulating microRNA miR-26a is amplified in high-grade glioma and facilitates gliomagenesis in vivo. *Genes & Development*, 23(11), 1327–37. http://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1777409
- Iversen, N., Birkenes, B., Torsdalen, K., & Djurovic, S. (2005). Electroporation by nucleofector is the best nonviral transfection technique in human endothelial and smooth muscle cells. *Genetic Vaccines and Therapy*, 3(1), 2. http://doi.org/10.1186/1479-0556-3-2
- Jung, Y.-J., Isaacs, J. S., Lee, S., Trepel, J., & Neckers, L. (2003). IL-1beta-mediated upregulation of HIF-1alpha via an NFkappaB/COX-2 pathway identifies HIF-1 as a critical link between inflammation and oncogenesis. FASEB Journal: Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 17(14), 2115–7. http://doi.org/10.1096/fj.03-0329fje
- Kai, K., Arima, Y., Kamiya, T., & Saya, H. (2010). Breast cancer stem cells. Breast Cancer (Tokyo, Japan), 17(2), 80–5. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12282-009-0176-y
- Kaidi, A., Qualtrough, D., Williams, A. C., & Paraskeva, C. (2006). Direct transcriptional up-regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 by hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 promotes colorectal tumor cell survival and enhances HIF-1 transcriptional activity during hypoxia. *Cancer Research*, 66(13), 6683–91. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0425
- Kao, J., Salari, K., Bocanegra, M., Choi, Y.-L., Girard, L., Gandhi, J., ... Pollack, J. R. (2009). Molecular profiling of breast cancer cell lines defines relevant tumor models and provides a resource for cancer gene discovery. *PloS One*, 4(7), e6146. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006146
- Kim, Y.-Y., Lee, E.-J., Kim, Y.-K., Kim, S.-M., Park, J.-Y., Myoung, H., & Kim, M.-J. (2010). Anti-cancer effects of celecoxib in head and neck carcinoma. *Molecules and Cells*, 29(2), 185–94. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10059-010-0026-y
- Kosaka, N., Iguchi, H., & Ochiya, T. (2010). Circulating microRNA in body fluid: a new potential biomarker for cancer diagnosis and prognosis. *Cancer Science*, *101*(10), 2087–92. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01650.x
- Kunju, L. P., Cookingham, C., Toy, K. A., Chen, W., Sabel, M. S., & Kleer, C. G. (2011). EZH2 and ALDH-1 mark breast epithelium at risk for breast cancer development. *Modern Pathology: An Official Journal of the United States and*

*Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc, 24*(6), 786–93. http://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2011.8

- Kurihara, Y., Tokuriki, M., Myojin, R., Hori, T., Kuroiwa, A., Matsuda, Y., ... Uesugi, S. (2003). CPEB2, a novel putative translational regulator in mouse haploid germ cells. *Biology of Reproduction*, 69(1), 261–8. http://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.103.015677
- Lala, P. K., Santer, V., Libenson, H., & Parhar, R. S. (1985). Changes in the host natural killer cell population in mice during tumor development. *Cellular Immunology*, 93(2), 250–264. http://doi.org/10.1016/0008-8749(85)90132-7
- Landman, E. O., Majumder, M., Liu, L., & Lala, P. K. (2014). Abstract 5217: The role of miR-526b in COX-2 mediated breast cancer progression via EP4 signaling. *Cancer Research*, 74(19 Supplement), 5217–5217. http://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2014-5217
- Larkins, T. L., Nowell, M., Singh, S., & Sanford, G. L. (2006). Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 decreases breast cancer cell motility, invasion and matrix metalloproteinase expression. *BMC Cancer*, 6(1), 181. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-6-181
- Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Chen, X., Sanders, M. E., Chakravarthy, A. B., Shyr, Y., & Pietenpol, J. A. (2011). Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121(7), 2750–67. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45014
- Leis, O., Eguiara, A., Lopez-Arribillaga, E., Alberdi, M. J., Hernandez-Garcia, S., Elorriaga, K., ... Martin, A. G. (2012). Sox2 expression in breast tumours and activation in breast cancer stem cells. *Oncogene*, 31(11), 1354–65. http://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.338
- Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods (San Diego, Calif.)*, 25(4), 402–8. http://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Ma, X., Holt, D., Kundu, N., Reader, J., Goloubeva, O., Take, Y., & Fulton, A. M. (2013). A prostaglandin E (PGE) receptor EP4 antagonist protects natural killer cells from PGE2-mediated immunosuppression and inhibits breast cancer metastasis. *Oncoimmunology*, 2(1), e22647. http://doi.org/10.4161/onci.22647
- Macdonald, P. (2001). Diversity in translational regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, *13*(3), 326–331. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0955-0674(00)00215-5

- Majumder, M., Landman, E., Liu, L., Hess, D., & Lala, P. K. (2015). COX-2 Elevates Oncogenic miR-526b in Breast Cancer by EP4 Activation. *Molecular Cancer Research : MCR*, 13(6), 1022–33. http://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-14-0543
- Majumder, M., Postovit, L.-M., Broughton, H., Xin, X., Fatan, E. T., Dunn, L., ... Lala, P. K. (2014). Abstract 3324: Cyclooxygenase-2 mediated breast cancer progression by induction of stem like cells and micro RNA. *Cancer Research*, 72(8 Supplement), 3324–3324. http://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2012-3324
- Majumder, M., Xin, X., Liu, L., Bell, G., Landman, E., Rodriguez-Torres, M., ... Lala, P. K. (2014). Abstract 3905: Stem like cells in human breast cancer: EP4 as a therapeutic target. *Cancer Research*, 74(19 Supplement), 3905–3905. http://doi.org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2014-3905
- Majumder, M., Xin, X., Liu, L., Girish, G. V, & Lala, P. K. (2014). Prostaglandin E2 receptor EP4 as the common target on cancer cells and macrophages to abolish angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, metastasis, and stem-like cell functions. *Cancer Science*, 105(9), 1142–51. http://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12475
- Mani, S. A., Guo, W., Liao, M.-J., Eaton, E. N., Ayyanan, A., Zhou, A. Y., ... Weinberg, R. A. (2008). The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell*, 133(4), 704–15. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027
- Manni, I., Artuso, S., Careccia, S., Rizzo, M. G., Baserga, R., Piaggio, G., & Sacchi, A. (2009). The microRNA miR-92 increases proliferation of myeloid cells and by targeting p63 modulates the abundance of its isoforms. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 23(11), 3957–66. http://doi.org/10.1096/fj.09-131847
- Morgan, M., Iaconcig, A., & Muro, A. F. (2010). CPEB2, CPEB3 and CPEB4 are coordinately regulated by miRNAs recognizing conserved binding sites in paralog positions of their 3'-UTRs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(21), 7698–710. http://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq635
- Nairismägi, M.-L., Vislovukh, A., Meng, Q., Kratassiouk, G., Beldiman, C., Petretich, M., ... Groisman, I. (2012). Translational control of TWIST1 expression in MCF-10A cell lines recapitulating breast cancer progression. *Oncogene*, 31(47), 4960–6. http://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.650
- Nussmeier, N. A., Whelton, A. A., Brown, M. T., Langford, R. M., Hoeft, A., Parlow, J. L., ... Verburg, K. M. (2005). Complications of the COX-2 inhibitors parecoxib and valdecoxib after cardiac surgery. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 352(11), 1081–91. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa050330
- Oshima, M., Dinchuk, J. E., Kargman, S. L., Oshima, H., Hancock, B., Kwong, E., ... Taketo, M. M. (1996). Suppression of Intestinal Polyposis in Apc∆716 Knockout

Mice by Inhibition of Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2). *Cell*, 87(5), 803–809. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81988-1

- Parhar, R. S., & Lala, P. K. (1985). Changes in the host natural killer cell population in mice during tumor development. *Cellular Immunology*, 93(2), 265–279. http://doi.org/10.1016/0008-8749(85)90133-9
- Peinado, H., Olmeda, D., & Cano, A. (2007). Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 7(6), 415–28. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2131
- Ponti, D., Costa, A., Zaffaroni, N., Pratesi, G., Petrangolini, G., Coradini, D., ... Daidone, M. G. (2005). Isolation and in vitro propagation of tumorigenic breast cancer cells with stem/progenitor cell properties. *Cancer Research*, 65(13), 5506–11. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0626
- Porstmann, T., Ternynck, T., & Avrameas, S. (1985). Quantitation of 5-bromo-2deoxyuridine incorporation into DNA: an enzyme immunoassay for the assessment of the lymphoid cell proliferative response. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 82(1), 169–179. http://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1759(85)90236-4
- Qiagen. (2010a). RNeasy MinElute Cleanup Handbook.
- Qiagen. (2010b). RNeasy® Mini Handbook. Biosystems.
- Reya, T., Morrison, S. J., Clarke, M. F., & Weissman, I. L. (2001). Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*, 414(6859), 105–11. http://doi.org/10.1038/35102167
- Ristimaki, A., Sivula, A., Lundin, J., Lundin, M., Salminen, T., Haglund, C., ... Isola, J. (2002). Prognostic Significance of Elevated Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression in Breast Cancer. *Cancer Res.*, 62(3), 632–635. Retrieved from http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/62/3/632.full
- Robertson, F. M., Simeone, A.-M., Mazumdar, A., Shah, A. H., McMurray, J. S., Ghosh, S., & Cristofanilli, M. (2008). Molecular and pharmacological blockade of the EP4 receptor selectively inhibits both proliferation and invasion of human inflammatory breast cancer cells. *Journal of Experimental Therapeutics & Oncology*, 7(4), 299– 312. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/19227010
- Roche. (2010). Cell Proliferation ELISA, BrdU (colorimetric) Version 14, (11), 1–21. Retrieved from https://cssportal.roche.com/LFR\_PublicDocs/ras/11647229001\_en\_14.pdf
- Rozic, J. G., Chakraborty, C., & Lala, P. K. (2001). Cyclooxygenase inhibitors retard murine mammary tumor progression by reducing tumor cell migration, invasiveness and angiogenesis. *International Journal of Cancer. Journal International Du*

*Cancer*, 93(4), 497–506. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11477553

- Sassen, S., Miska, E. A., & Caldas, C. (2008). MicroRNA: implications for cancer. Virchows Archiv: An International Journal of Pathology, 452(1), 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-007-0532-2
- Semenza, G. L. (2003). Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 3(10), 721–32. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1187
- Shaw, F. L., Harrison, H., Spence, K., Ablett, M. P., Simões, B. M., Farnie, G., & Clarke, R. B. (2012). A detailed mammosphere assay protocol for the quantification of breast stem cell activity. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, 17(2), 111–7. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-012-9255-3
- Shaw, L. M. (2005). Tumor cell invasion assays. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 294, 97–105. http://doi.org/1-59259-860-9:097 [pii]
- Sheng, H., Shao, J., Kirkland, S. C., Isakson, P., Coffey, R. J., Morrow, J., ... DuBois, R. N. (1997). Inhibition of human colon cancer cell growth by selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 99(9), 2254–9. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119400
- Shigoka, M., Tsuchida, A., Matsudo, T., Nagakawa, Y., Saito, H., Suzuki, Y., ... Kuroda, M. (2010). Deregulation of miR-92a expression is implicated in hepatocellular carcinoma development. *Pathology International*, 60(5), 351–7. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1827.2010.02526.x
- Sivula, A., Talvensaari-Mattila, A., Lundin, J., Joensuu, H., Haglund, C., Ristimäki, A., & Turpeenniemi-Hujanen, T. (2005). Association of cyclooxygenase-2 and matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 89(3), 215–20. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-004-0714-4
- Smith, J. B., & Willis, A. L. (1971). Aspirin Selectively Inhibits Prostaglandin Production in Human Platelets. *Nature*, 231(25), 235–237. http://doi.org/10.1038/10.1038/newbio231235a0
- Soslow, R. A., Dannenberg, A. J., Rush, D., Woerner, B. M., Khan, K. N., Masferrer, J., & Koki, A. T. (2000). COX-2 is expressed in human pulmonary, colonic, and mammary tumors. *Cancer*, 89(12), 2637–45. http://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(20001215)89:12<2637::AID-CNCR17>3.0.CO;2-B
- Tang, T. C. (2005). Tumor cyclooxygenase-2 levels correlate with tumor invasiveness in human hepatocellular carcinoma. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 11(13), 1896. http://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v11.i13.1896

- Thiery, J. P. (2002). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 2(6), 442–54. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc822
- Thun, M. J., Namboodiri, M. M., & Heath, C. W. (1991). Aspirin use and reduced risk of fatal colon cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 325(23), 1593–6. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199112053252301
- Tian, Q., Liang, L., Ding, J., Zha, R., Shi, H., Wang, Q., ... He, X. (2012). MicroRNA-550a acts as a pro-metastatic gene and directly targets cytoplasmic polyadenylation element-binding protein 4 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *PloS One*, 7(11), e48958. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048958
- Timoshenko, A., Chakraborty, C., Wagner, G. F., & Lala, P. K. (2006). COX-2-mediated stimulation of the lymphangiogenic factor VEGF-C in human breast cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, 94(8), 1154–63. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603067
- Timoshenko, A., Lala, P. K., & Chakraborty, C. (2004). PGE2-mediated upregulation of iNOS in murine breast cancer cells through the activation of EP4 receptors. *International Journal of Cancer. Journal International Du Cancer*, 108(3), 384–9. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.11575
- Timoshenko, A., Xu, G., Chakrabarti, S., Lala, P. K., & Chakraborty, C. (2003). Role of prostaglandin E2 receptors in migration of murine and human breast cancer cells. *Experimental Cell Research*, 289(2), 265–274. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-4827(03)00269-6
- Tsuchida, A., Ohno, S., Wu, W., Borjigin, N., Fujita, K., Aoki, T., ... Kuroda, M. (2011). miR-92 is a key oncogenic component of the miR-17-92 cluster in colon cancer. *Cancer Science*, 102(12), 2264–71. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2011.02081.x
- Tsuji, T., Ibaragi, S., & Hu, G. -f. (2009). Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Cell Cooperativity in Metastasis. *Cancer Research*, 69(18), 7135–7139. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1618
- Turimella, S. L., Bedner, P., Skubal, M., Vangoor, V. R., Kaczmarczyk, L., Karl, K., ... Theis, M. (2015). Characterization of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding 2 protein expression and its RNA binding activity. *Hippocampus*, 25(5), 630–642. http://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22399
- Tysnes, B. B. (2010). Tumor-initiating and -propagating cells: cells that we would like to identify and control. *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)*, *12*(7), 506–15. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2907577&tool=pmcentr ez&rendertype=abstract

- Valent, P., Bonnet, D., De Maria, R., Lapidot, T., Copland, M., Melo, J. V, ... Eaves, C. (2012). Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: the devil is in the details. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, 12(11), 767–75. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3368
- Vasiliou, V., & Nebert, D. W. (2005, June 1). Analysis and update of the human aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) gene family. *Human Genomics*. BioMed Central Ltd. http://doi.org/10.1186/1479-7364-2-2-138
- Ventura, A., Young, A. G., Winslow, M. M., Lintault, L., Meissner, A., Erkeland, S. J., ... Jacks, T. (2008). Targeted deletion reveals essential and overlapping functions of the miR-17 through 92 family of miRNA clusters. *Cell*, 132(5), 875–86. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.019
- Vermeulen, L., De Sousa E Melo, F., van der Heijden, M., Cameron, K., de Jong, J. H., Borovski, T., ... Medema, J. P. (2010). Wnt activity defines colon cancer stem cells and is regulated by the microenvironment. *Nature Cell Biology*, 12(5), 468–76. http://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2048
- Vincent-Salomon, A., & Thiery, J. (2003). Host microenvironment in breast cancer development: Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer development. *Breast Cancer Res*, 5(2), 101–106. http://doi.org/10.1186/bcr578
- Visvader, J. E., & Lindeman, G. J. (2012). Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities. *Cell Stem Cell*, *10*(6), 717–28. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.007
- Vuong, D., Simpson, P. T., Green, B., Cummings, M. C., & Lakhani, S. R. (2014). Molecular classification of breast cancer. *Virchows Archiv: An International Journal of Pathology*, 465(1), 1–14. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-014-1593-7
- Wicha, M. S., Liu, S., & Dontu, G. (2006). Cancer stem cells: an old idea--a paradigm shift. *Cancer Research*, 66(4), 1883–90; discussion 1895–6. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3153
- Wu, L., Wells, D., Tay, J., Mendis, D., Abbott, M.-A., Barnitt, A., ... Richter, J. D. (1998). CPEB-Mediated Cytoplasmic Polyadenylation and the Regulation of Experience-Dependent Translation of α-CaMKII mRNA at Synapses. *Neuron*, 21(5), 1129–1139. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80630-3
- Xin, X., Majumder, M., Girish, G. V, Mohindra, V., Maruyama, T., & Lala, P. K. (2012). Targeting COX-2 and EP4 to control tumor growth, angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis and metastasis to the lungs and lymph nodes in a breast cancer model. *Laboratory Investigation; a Journal of Technical Methods and Pathology*, 92(8), 1115–28. http://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.2012.90
- Yin, J., Park, G., Lee, J. E., Park, J. Y., Kim, T.-H., Kim, Y.-J., ... Park, J. B. (2014). CPEB1 modulates differentiation of glioma stem cells via downregulation of HES1 and SIRT1 expression. *Oncotarget*, 5(16), 6756–69. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4196161&tool=pmcentr ez&rendertype=abstract
- Zhang, B., Liu, X.-X., He, J.-R., Zhou, C.-X., Guo, M., He, M., ... Zhao, Q. (2011). Pathologically decreased miR-26a antagonizes apoptosis and facilitates carcinogenesis by targeting MTDH and EZH2 in breast cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, 32(1), 2–9. http://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgq209

# **APPENDICES**

Table 1: Summary of breast cancer cell lines used in this project (ATCC, 2015;Chavez, Garimella, & Lipkowitz, 2010; Hackett et al., 1977; Holliday & Speirs,2011; Kao et al., 2009; Lehmann et al., 2011)

Cell Line	Classification	Estrogen receptor (ER)	Progesterone receptor (PR)	HER2	Cell Type	Disease	Tissue
HS578T	Basal B	_	_	_	epithelial	adenocarcinoma	mammary gland/breast
MCF7	Luminal A	+	+	_	epithelial	adenocarcinoma	mammary gland, breast; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion
MDAMB231	Basal B			_	epithelial	adenocarcinoma	mammary gland/breast; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion
SKBR3	HER2	_	_	+	epithelial	adenocarcinoma	mammary gland/breast; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion
T47D	Luminal A	+	+	_	epithelial	ductal carcinoma	mammary gland; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion

## Table 2: Probes used for real-time PCR

Probe	Company	Catalog Number	Assay ID
CPEB2 TaqMan® Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4331182	Hs01039673_m1
hsa-miR-526b TaqMan® MicroRNA Assay	Life Technologies	4427975	2382
hsa-miR-655 TaqMan® MicroRNA Assay	Life Technologies	4427975	1612
PTGS-2 (COX2) TaqMan® Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4427975	Hs00153133_m1
RNU44 TaqMan <sup>®</sup> Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4427975	1094
RNU48 TaqMan® MicroRNA Assay	Life Technologies	4427975	1006
RPL5 TaqMan <sup>®</sup> Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4331182	Hs03044958 g1
SNAI1 TagMan® Gene Expression Assav	Life Technologies	4331182	 Hs00195591_m1
TWIST1 TagMan® Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4331182	Hs01675818_s1
VIM (Vimentin) TagMan® Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4331182	Hs00185584 m1
ZEB1TaqMan® Gene Expression Assay	Life Technologies	4331182	Hs00232783_m1

Antibody	Raised in	Dilution (1:x)	Company	Catalog Number
E-Cadherin	Rabbit	1000	Cell Signaling Technology	31955
SOX-2	Mouse	300	BD Biosciences	561593
Twist1	Rabbit	500	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	SC_15393
Vimentin	Mouse	500	EMD Millipore	MAB3400
CF488A anti-Mouse IgG (H+L)	Goat	400	Biotium	20018-1
CF488A anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L)	Goat	400	Biotium	20019-1

### Table 3: Antibodies used for IF

Isoforms	Nucleic acids	Amino acids	Difference from isoform D	Molecular Weight (kDa)
isoform D	6878 bp	1034 aa	The same	109.8 kDa
isoform A	6764 bp	559 aa	Missing sequences 1950-2034	61.7 kDa
isoform B	6854 bp	589 aa	Missing sequences 2175-2199	64.9 kDa
isoform C	6797 bp	1007 aa	Missing sequences 1950-2034	106.9 kDa
isoform E	6788 bp	1007 aa	Missing sequences 1950-2034	106.9 kDa
isoform F	6773 bp	562 aa	Missing sequences 1950-2034	62.1 kDa

Table 4: CPEB2 Isoforms based on BLAST and UniProt (Universal ProteinResource) search. All isoforms are compared to CPEB2 isoform D

### Table 5: Abstract of COX-2/EP4/Notch-Wnt Axis in Breast Cancer Cell Induction

### Paper (Majumder et al. submitted Oncogene)

uartiq"recent marri 19	ckingayatem Oncogenie
king system home author in	structions reviewer instructions 🔅 help tips logout journal hor
Manuscript #	ONC-2015-01468
Current Revision #	0
Received Date	3rd Jul 15
Current Stage	All Reviewers Assigned
Title	COX-2/EP4/NOTCH-WNT Axis in Breast Cancer Stem Cell Induction
Running Title	COX-2/EP4 induces breast cancer stem cells
Manuscript Type	Original Article
Special Section	N/A
Manuscript Comment	Yes.
Corresponding Author	Prof. Peeyush Lala (University of Western Ontario)
Contributing Authors	Dr. Mousumi Majumder , Dr. Xiping Xin , Dr. Ling Liu , Dr. Elena Tutunea-Fatan , Dr. Mauricio Rodriguez-Torres , Miss Krista Vincent , I Lynne-Marie Postovit , Dr. David Hess
Abstract Receiving Editor	Cancer stem like cells (SLC) resist conventional therapies, necessitatin searches for SLC-specific targets. We established that cyclo- oxygenase(COX)-2 expression promotes human breast cancer progression via multiple mechanisms including up-regulation of an oncogenic microRNA by activation of the prostaglandin(PG)E-2 recepto EP4. Present study revealed that COX-2 additionally induces SLCs by EP4-mediated NOTCH and WNT up-regulation. Ectopic COX-2 over- expression in MCF-7 and SKBR-3 human breast cancer cell lines (nam MCF-7-COX-2 and SKBR-3-COX-2) resulted in aggressive phenotypes: increased migration/invasion/proliferation, ENT, up-regulation of EP4/VEGF-A/C/D expression and increased SLCs, evidenced by sphero formation for successive generations in vitro, ALDH activity and co- expression of COX-2/SLC markers. These changes were reversed with COX-2 inhibitor or EP4 antagonist (EP4A), indicating their dependence COX-2/EP4 activities. Treating COX-2-low cells with PGE2 or PGE10H (EP4 agonist), stimulated SLC marker expression and up-regulated NOTCH and WNT pathway genes that could be blocked with PI3K/AKT inhibitors. Supporting above findings, micro-array analysis showed up- regulation of numerous SLC-regulatory and ENT-associated genes in MCF-7-COX-2 cells. MCF-7-COX-2 showed increased orthotopic tumorigenicity and spontaneous multi-organ metastases in NOD/SCID/IL-2Ry-deficient mice on transplantation for successive generations with limiting cell inocula. They also showed increased lung colonization in NOD/SCID/GUSB-null mice, an effect reversed with EP4 knockdown or EP4A treatment of MCF-7-COX-2 cells. COX-2, EP4 and ALDH1A expression in breast cancer tissues were significantly higher i situ than in non-tumer tissues, and were also correlated with non- another. High COX-2/EP4 expression was also associated with poor survival. Thus EP4 represents a novel therapeutic target to eradicate SLCs in breast cancer.
Techniques	Life sciences techniques, Signal transduction techniques [Stem cells]; Life sciences techniques, Cellular imaging [Confocal microscopy]; Life sciences techniques [Gene expression analysis]; Life sciences techniques [Gene transfer]; Life sciences techniques, Gene transfer [Transfection]; Life sciences techniques, Gene transfer [Transfection]; Life sciences techniques, Gene transfer transcriptase polymerase chain reaction]; Life sciences techniques [Hib throughput screening]; Life sciences techniques, High throughput screening [Flow cytometry]; Life sciences techniques [Cellular imaging Life sciences techniques, Experimental organisms [Mouse]: Life sciences

#### **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Name:	Asma Hasan
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	Bachelor of Science Honors Specialization in Biology The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario Canada 2009-2013 Masters in Science
	Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario Canada 2013-2015
Honours and Awards:	Translational Breast Cancer Research Studentship (TBCRU) funded in part by the Breast Cancer Society of Canada 2013-2015
	CIHR-Inst of Community Support Travel Award in partnership with CIHR-Inst of Cancer Research 2015
	Western Graduate Research Scholarship (WGRS) 2013-2015
	CIHR-Inst of Community Support Travel Award in partnership with CIHR-Inst of Cancer Research 2014
	CIHR-STP Award in Cancer Research and Technology Transfer (CaRTT) 2013-2014
	CaRTT Summer Studentship 2013
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2015

#### **Publications:**

**Hasan A**, Majumder M, Amiri M and Lala PK. "The role of *CPEB-2* in breast cancer progression," Canadian Cancer Research Conference. Montreal QC, November 8 2015.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M, Amiri M and Lala PK. "The role of *CPEB-2* in breast cancer," Oncology Research and Education Day. London ON, June 26 2015.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M, Amiri M and Lala PK. "The functional role of *CPEB-2* in breast cancer," American Association of Anatomist Regional Meeting. London ON, May 30 2015.

Hasan A, Majumder M, Amiri M and Lala PK. "The role of *CPEB-2* in human breast cancer," London Health Research Day. London ON, April 1 2015.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M and Lala PK. "The role of *CPEB-2* in breast cancer," San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium. San Antonio TX USA, December 10 2014.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M, and Lala PK. "The role of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein (*CPEB*)-2 in breast cancer," Anatomy and Cell Biology Research Day. London ON, October 2014.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M and Lala PK. "The role of *CPEB-2* in breast cancer progression," Oncology Research and Education Day. London ON, June 20 2014.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M and Lala PK. "The role of *CPEB-2*, miR-526b and miR-655 in human breast cancer," London Health Research Day. London ON, March 18 2014.

**Hasan A**, Majumder M, Landman E and Lala PK. "The role of cytoplasmic polyadenylation element binding protein *(CPEB)-2* in breast cancer," Anatomy and Cell Biology Research Day. London ON, October 24 2013.